The role of Organizational justice in the relationship between LMX, Organizational Commitment and Intent to turnover

Amna Yousaf

M.Sc. Thesis University of Twente September 07-08

Graduation committee

Supervisors: Dr. Nicole Torka Prof. Dr. Jan Kees Looise

Acknowledgment

I wish to acknowledge and thank those people who contributed to this thesis:

Dr. Nicole Torka for her supervision, advice, and guidance from the very early stage of this research. Above all and the most needed, she provided me unflinching encouragement and support in various ways. No doubt her support, advice, supervision, and crucial contribution, made her a backbone of this research and so to this thesis. Dr. Nicole, I am grateful in every possible way and hope to keep up our collaboration in the future.

I would also like to take the opportunity to gratefully thank Prof. J. C. Looise for taking me under his kind supervision.

Thank you University of Twente, Enschede for providing me the lovely experience of being your part and giving me the opportunity to conduct this research.

My special thanks to Higher Education Commission of Pakistan which provided me funding through out the tenure of my study and without which it might not be possible for me to carry on my project.

I do not see myself anywhere without the support and unconditional love of my family. My parents deserve special mention and I dedicate my work to them. My Father, in the first place is the person who gave me inseparable support and prayers ever since I was a child. He has made so many sacrifices for me which maybe every parent can not make. My late mother, she is the one who sincerely raised me with her caring and gentle love. She inculcated the lust for knowledge in me from the very beginning of my school days. Mom, I wish you were amongst us today! And my most wonderful siblings Ali, Abdul Baseer and Fatima; how can I forget you guys; for the light and motivation that you all have provided to me in times when I most needed it. You all provided me every ingredient important for success.

Yes, now comes my little angel, my daughter, my Noor-Ul-Ain who has become my source of motivation and the cause of my achieving goals of life.

My deep appreciation to my husband, Mr. Khan; he is such a wonderful partner! He has shown his consistent love and support at every step I have taken during the whole process. Thank you for being there always. And yes Mr. Khan, you and Abdul Baseer have also been in the reading and commenting committee of my thesis.

I would also take the opportunity to thank my husband's family for supporting me warmly throughout and being equally enthusiastic and wishful for my studies.

Finally I would like to thank everyone who contributed in any possible way for the realization of my thesis, my sincere apology for not mentioning the name personally.

U.Twente

TABLE OF CONTENTS

No.	Title	Page No.
1	Introduction	1
1.1	Societal relevance	2
1.2	Scientific relevance	4
2	Theoretical Chapter and Research hypothesis	6
2.1	Organizational Justice	6
2.1.1	Distributive Justice	6
2.1.2	Procedural Justice	7
2.1.3	Interactional Justice	8
2.1.4	Interpersonal Justice and Informational Justice	8
2.1.5	Organizational Justice and HR practices	9
2.2	Leader – Member Exchange	10
2.2.1	Role of supervisor and HR practices	11
2.3	Organizational Commitment	14
2.3.1	Conceptualizations of Commitment	15
2.3.2	Foci of Commitment	16
2.4	Turnover Intentions	17
2.5	LMX and Organizational Justice	17
2.5.1	LMX promoter and LMX tutor	19
2.6	Organizational Justice, organizational Commitment and	19
	Turnover Intent	
2.7	LMX, Organizational Commitment and Turnover Intent	21
2.8	The mediation conditions	22
2.8.1	Mediation effects of Justice dimensions	22
2.9	Conclusion Literature review	23
3	Research Model	24
3.1	Research Methodology	24
3.2	Site	24
3.3	Population	25
3.4	Study variables	25
3.5	Scales	25
3.6	The survey instrument and data collection	25
3.7	Statistical Analysis and results	27
4	Discussions and Conclusion	32
4.1	Implications of Research	36
4.1.1	Recommendations for the Dutch Government	36
4.1.2	Recommendations for the University Management	37
4.1.3	Recommendations for supervisors	37
4.2	Recommendations for future research	39
5	References	41

1 Introduction

The aim of this research is to investigate the relationships between leader-member exchange, perceived justice concerning HR practices and organizational commitment (among PhD students at University of Twente, Enschede so as to suggest measures to increase their organizational commitment. Supervisors play a particularly prominent role in important HR activities that affect employee motivation, skills and subsequently organizational commitment and intent to leave. They are directly involved in selection and hiring process of the company, performance appraisal of employees, job design, job content of employees, decisions regarding employee authority, autonomy and empowerment, training and development opportunities and so on (Whitener, 1997). It is also reported that supervisors as leaders play an important role in shaping the attitude and behavior of their subordinates (Dansereau, Graen and Haga, 1975. Leader-member exchange (LMX) theory describes how leaders develop different exchange relationships over time with various subordinates (Graen and Scandura 1987; Maertz et al, 2007). It has been suggested in literature that the quality of relationships formed between leaders and subordinates determines employees' perception of organizational policies and practices such as distributive and procedural justice regarding HR policies used by the organization (Dansereau, Graen and Haga, 1975). These perceptions, in turn, influence their attitude and behavior (Graen and Scandura, 1987). In the words of Graen and Scandura (1987) the immediate supervisor of the employees mediates the relationship between fairness perceptions of employees regarding HR activities and their consequent level of organizational commitment.

Organizational justice is a very important predictor of a number of employee attitudes and behaviors. It is reported to directly influence organizational commitment, turnover and job satisfaction of employees (Colquitt et al, 2001). Cropanzano (2002) define this construct as fairness perceptions of employees regarding decisions taken by the organization.

Organizational commitment variable has been chosen as outcome variable for this research. Allen and Meyer (1990:14) define organizational commitment as "a psychological state that binds the individual to the organization (i.e., makes turnover less likely)". Steers (1977) also indicate in his findings that commitment is associated with increased desire of an employee to remain in the organization. Various authors highlight the importance of organizational commitment. For example, Al-Emadi and Marquardt (2007) explain that much recent writing on Human Resources Management has emphasized the desirability of a committed workforce and the central role of HRM practices in establishing and maintaining commitment. They report that there has been a continuing interest in the commitment of employees to their organization. This is because organizational commitment is recognized as one of the major determinants of organizational effectiveness (Steers, 1975). Ferris and Aranya (1983) add that 'organizational commitment is becoming an increasingly used construct to predict performance, absenteeism and turnover' (p. 96). They point out that management is recognizing the link between increased organizational commitment and higher levels of job performance, lower levels of absenteeism and lower levels of employee turnover. Mitchell et al. (2001) suggest that 'organizations of all sizes and types are recognizing that they are engaged in a struggle to retain talent, and are actively trying to do something about it' (p. 97).

The following research question will be addressed:

Does organizational justice concerning HR practices mediate the relationship between leader- member Exchange, organizational commitment and intent to turnover of PhD's?

To answer the main research question the following sub questions have been developed:

- a) What is organizational justice and why it is important?
- b) What are the consequences of organizational justice?
- c) How justice perceptions of employees are linked to different HR practices?
- d) What is Leader-Member Exchange and why is it important?
- e) What is the role of supervisor in the HR practices of the organization and how he/she can affect fairness perceptions?
- f) What are different dimensions of LMX?
- g) What is organizational commitment and what are the foci of commitment?
- h) What are the different dimensions of organizational commitment?
- i) What is intent to turnover?
- j) What is the interrelationship between different variables used in the study?
- k) Does Organizational justice mediate the relationship between LMX, commitment and turnover intent?

1.1 Societal relevance

PhD students are the foundation on which Dutch science is built (Tan and Meijer, 2001). It was stated in the Association of Dutch Universities' annual report of 1999 that 70 to 80 percent of scientific research in medical sciences is done by PhD students. It was also suggested that in physics, without the research of PhD students the output of scientific research would be five times less.

Scarcity of the number of scientific employees has been observed in the Netherlands since last couple of years. Fischer and Lohner (2001) found that there is declining trend in the students attracting towards PhD studies. In 1998 only 7% of the students with a master's degree continued into PhD study and numbers are declining still further. Those studying for PhDs in the Netherlands are not as in some other countries, considered to be students. They are university employees and receive a small salary, health insurance, maternity leave and pension insurance. At the moment the University of Amsterdam and Groningen University make the only exception to this system: Some of their PhD students are so called 'bursars' and receive only a grant (Fischer and Lohner, 2001).

The universities, the Netherlands Scientific Organization (NWO), the Royal Dutch Academy of Arts and Sciences (KNAW) as well as some other bodies (industry, charities) provide funding. The majority of PhD students is called AIO and is funded by the universities or KNAW. The only difference with the NWO-supported OIO is that OIOs don't teach undergraduates, but the OIO system is being discontinued (Fischer and Lohner, 2001). In general, students apply to the future supervisor directly, rather than applying to the university or funding bodies.

Tan and Meijer (2001) explain that the majority of PhD students (AIOs & OIOs,) pay a lot for education and supervision but still most were not satisfied with the quality and quantity of their supervision. The loss of motivated PhD students is not only a bad

experience for the students themselves; it is a loss of scientific work and future staff which are desperately needed (Tan and Meijer, 2001). A survey found that 32% of the students said that supervisors did not pay enough time to supervision and 29% did not expect to learn much from them. However, lack of proper supervision is one factor that contributes significantly to student drop out.

In theory PhD study takes 4 years, and funding is provided for this period, but only 12% finish their thesis within this term. Because of the increasing difficulty in finding PhD students, foreign PhD students are hired. At the moment around 20% to 37% of the PhD students come from abroad. A lot of openings and vacancies for PhD students can be found in newspapers and on internet with fewer respondents from the home country. Resultantly vacancies are also posted in the local media of neighbor countries like Germany to attract the PhD students and fill the vacant positions.

Number of students beginning PhDs per year – The Netherlands

AIO (male)	AIO (female)	OIO (male)	OIO (female)	Total
1023	483	354	152	2012
925	511	367	153	1956
822	470	352	161	1805
728	451	305	133	1617
838	506	348	126	1818
861	562	313	57	1793
918	691	244	141	1994
	1023 925 822 728 838 861	1023 483 925 511 822 470 728 451 838 506 861 562	1023483354925511367822470352728451305838506348861562313	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Another important cause of the dearth of scientific employees in The Netherlands can be linked to the retirement of senior PhD's but less availability of fresh ones in to the labor market. A report commissioned by the Dutch Minister of Education, Culture and Sciences showed that a third of the scientific staff will retire in the next 10 years. Universities should do their very best to keep young talent.

If we compare the situation of scientific employees with other neighboring/European countries, the situation looks dismal. Taking the example of Germany where there are very few regulations governing doctoral research. Many PhD candidates are not registered anywhere, which means that it is difficult to get an accurate picture of the true situation of doctoral students in Germany. There are also further complications of research problems in communication with supervisor. PhD's are understood only as students and barely find mechanisms to change the supervisor when cooperation does not function well. Besides, there is no possibility for supervisor to attend special courses, which would help him/her to improve cooperation with students.

Another crucial matter, which makes young educated people to leave, is poor perspective after finishing PhD study. In many European countries PhD's enjoy low societal status. Owing to time and difficulties involved in obtaining a PhD degree; it becomes easier for young scientists to leave the country. On the whole, poor working and studying conditions of young researchers in Europe clearly results in brain drain especially to the United States and Japan.

In the current situation it becomes very important to identify areas where adequate steps need to be taken to ensure retention of scientific staff and also for the hiring of new comers so as this scarcity can be over come.

PhD students attached to University of Twente, The Netherlands located in Enschede, will be chosen as the sample for the purpose of this research. In doing so, the research will take place in collaboration with the universities' PhD network. This university also faces similar kind of trends when it comes to the dilemma of the ever burgeoning scarcity of scientific employees. The following table makes the situation clearer.

Number of students beginning PhD's per year - University of Twente

Year	Male	Female	Local	Foreign	Total
2008	436	184	316	304	620
2007	-	-	-	-	607
2006	-	-	-	-	628
2005	-	-	-	-	634

This sample has been selected also because they are easier to enter and access to information will be easier. Data will be collected using online questionnaire.

This empirical study is the first of its kind to examine the relationship between above mentioned variables. Understanding such linkages may enable organizations to increase the commitment level of their scientific staff which is the need of the hour. This research can be of particular help to cope with the ever increasing problem of loss of PhD students by highlighting the role of promoter in supervising the research, which determines their perceptions of organizational justice in use of various HR policies, over which promoter has direct control. These perceptions in turn determine their organizational commitment level thus directly affecting their decision to drop out or quit or to leave the organization after completion of research.

1.2 Scientific relevance

Recent research efforts have noted the potential importance of differentiated levels of exchange with respect to subordinates' attitude formation, and have called for further study to determine if such differential treatment might affect perceptions of fairness and various organizational outcomes (Forret and Turban, 1994).

This study is significant for the following reasons:

1. Contribution to theory

Although several studies examined the relationship between LMX work/organizational outcome variables (e.g. Graen and Scandura, 1987) as well as between organizational justice and work/organizational outcome variables (Colquitt, 2001; Cropanzano, 2001), relatively little is known about the interrelationships between LMX, organizational justice, organizational commitment and turnover intent. Previous research hypothesized that LMX mediates the relationships between interactional justice and performance, supervisor-directed citizenship behaviours, and job satisfaction (Masterson et al, 2000). Current research will be aimed at studying the mediation effects and extent of mediation

of organizational justice in the relationship between LMX, commitment and turnover. It is expected to add up to the existing literature by providing a more developed model of organizational justice. Also, not much research has been done yet including the four dimensions of justice presented by Colquitt (explained below). The research will make use of Colquitt's four dimensional model of justice to test its hypothesis.

Also a scarcity was found on the research done investigating the role of supervisor regarding important HR practices of task content, career development opportunities and so on. The present research will also study this area where supervisor has large degree of autonomy.

2. Recommendations for future actions:

The study may assist in determining actions managers can take to maximize organizational commitment among employees, thus leading to retaining scientific capital. The study may also serve to highlight areas for further research.

2 Theoretical chapter and Research hypothesis

The following section deals with the literature study on the variables chosen for the purpose of this research and their intertwinement. Based on the literature review, we develop our own hypothesis and later research model to be tested using some appropriate statistical technique.

2.1 Organizational Justice

In literature a distinction has been made between four dimensions of justice: distributive justice, procedural justice, interpersonal justice and informational justice (Colquitt, 2001). In the following paragraphs, we will elaborate on these dimensions and link them to HR practices.

Cropanzano et al (2001) define organizational justice as the fairness perceptions of employees in organizational decision making. They link the justice perceptions of employees to commitment level of employees, job performance, withdrawal and organizational citizenship behaviors. Fairly treated employees, compared to the ones who are unfairly treated, demonstrate organizational citizenship behavior, show higher job performance, are more committed and have fewer turnover intentions (Rupp and Cropanzano 2002). Folger (1994) links justice to moral and ethical standards and explains in his studies that individuals prefer to be part of organizations that behave morally and ethically than those that do not. Therefore, justice has been classified as an important and basic requirement for the effective functioning of an organization, for the well being of its employees and for their personal satisfaction (Moore, 1978).

Below we look at various dimensions of organizational justice, their consequences and their specific implications for various HR practices

2.1.1 Distributive justice

There is ongoing conflict in literature about whether there are various dimensions of organizational justice and if they can be distinguished from each other. Before 1975 the study of justice was recognized to be consisting of only the distributive justice dimension. Other forms of justice were not conceptualized, meaning that justice was used as a broad term and no differentiation was made between dimensions of justice (Greenberg, 1990). Adams presented his Equity theory (1965) which focused only on the distributive aspect of justice as the theory focuses on reactions to pay inequity, an important distributive justice predictor. It states that individuals compare the ratio of their output (rewards) and inputs (contributions that they make towards the organization) to the similar ratio of their counterparts. If their ratio is higher (which means that they are getting more rewards) it may lead to their increased performance. However employees who feel themselves to be in inequitable position try to reduce inequity by distorting inputs (reducing their contributions) or outcomes in their own minds (Adams, 1965). Scandura (1999) explained that equal distribution of rewards would not totally avoid inequity perceptions, as those employees whose contributions are higher to organization also expect higher rewards compared to others. He further states that equal reward distribution may harm those who are the hardest workers in the group. So equity theory of Adams was criticized on the

ground that it did not address the issues of how plans were administered and raised questions of process oriented outcomes (Greenberg 1990, P 402).

Folger (1986a) presented Referent Cognitions Theory (RCT) in an attempt to address the pitfalls of equity theory. RCT states that an individual will find an outcome/judgment unfair when he believes that the use of some alternative procedure could have resulted in more favorable outcome. It means that presence of alternatives leads to a situation as disadvantaged if individuals are aware of it. Despite its contributions, RCT was also criticized on the ground that it explored only economic aspects and did not consider socioemotional aspects (Folger and Cropanzano, 2001). Folger revised the RCT keeping in mind its limitations and presented Fairness Theory (Folger and Cropanzano, 2001). Fairness theory addressed some of the limitations of RCT but it could not be empirically tested because of its recency.

Fairness heuristic theory was on the contrary empirically supported (Lind, 1995a). The theory explained how exactly justice judgments are formed. Individuals are often in situation in which they must surrender to an authority figure, leading to the chances of their being exploited and their identity being threatened (Lind, 1995). Furthermore, as a result individuals are often uncertain about their relations with authority. This uncertainty leads individuals to ask questions about the trustworthiness and unbiased treatment of authority. The theory states that the information required to answer these questions is often incomplete or unavailable. Thus individuals rely on heuristics or cognitive shortcuts to guide their subsequent behaviors. It concludes that fairness judgments of individuals are formed on the basis of readily available information.

Various authors have (Moore, 1978; Greenberg, 1990) mentioned the importance of distributive justice in the organizational justice research and its consequences. Skarlicki and Folger (1997:435) explain the consequences of organizational injustice as not merely job dissatisfaction. Rather violations of distributive justice might increase desire to punish and impose harmful consequences on a putative wrongdoer. Colquitt (2001) explains that decisions taking place in organizational lives have important consequences on both economic and socio emotional lives of the employees.

2.1.2 Procedural justice

Thibaut and Walker (1975) introduced another dimension of organizational justice namely procedural justice. They defined procedural justice to be concerned with individual's perceptions about the fairness of procedures governing decisions. Examples of procedural justice include the degree of voice a person has in the decision making process and whether or not consistent rules are followed in making decisions (this means that procedural justice is also linked to employee influence). Thibaut and Walker (1975), in other words, gave the concept of process control and decision control. Their work was mainly limited to legal procedures and disputant reactions. They suggested that if disputants had control over processes, they would still view procedures as fair even if they had minimal control over decisions. By process control they mean the control over the presentation of argumentation and sufficient time to present the case.

Leventhal et al (1980) introduced procedural justice in an organizational setting (in contrast to legal settings used by Thibaut and Walker in their studies) and introduced six measures of procedural justice. These include consistency across people and time, free

from bias, accuracy of information used in decision making, existence of some mechanism to correct flawed decisions, conforming to standards of ethics and morality and inclusion of opinion of various groups involved in the decision process.

Skarlicki and Folger (1997) explain the consequences of procedural justice. They argue that individuals accept responsibility for their problems if they perceive that fair procedures were used to arrive at decision outcomes. However if they perceive that procedures used by the organization are unfair, individuals may show anger and resentment and consequently enter into retaliating behaviors (Skarlicki and Folger, 1997) Employee perceptions of fairness in treatment and procedures enhances their quality of work, their performance, stimulates commitment and desirability of long term ongoing relationship with organization (Cropanzano et al, 2001). Also procedural justice is expected to increase perceptions of organizational support, which, in turn, increase both citizenship behaviors directed toward the organization and organizational commitment (Cropanzano et al, 2001). Thus it becomes important for employees that what is fair and what is not. Favorable outcomes are more likely to engender fairness (e.g., Conlon, 1993).

A number of studies in a variety of situations have demonstrated that offering an explanation or justification for a decision will increase the perceived fairness of that decision, meaning that a perceived fair procedure also influences distributive justice positively (Greenberg, 1990).

2.1.3 Interactional justice

Another form of justice was introduced by Bies and Moag (1986) based on the importance of the quality of the interpersonal treatment people receive when procedures are implemented. This was referred to as "Interactional Justice". This dimension emphasizes the importance of truthfulness, respect, and justification as fairness criteria of interpersonal communication.

Highlighting the importance of interactional justice, Mikula, Petrik, and Tanzer (1990) reported that a considerable proportion of perceived injustices did not concern distributional or procedural issues in the narrow sense but instead referred to the manner in which people were treated interpersonally during interactions and encounters.

2.1.4 Interpersonal justice and Informational justice

Unlike previous literature on organizational justice, Colquitt (2001) made use of four dimensions of organizational justice. He does not use interactional justice as a subset of procedural justice; rather he suggests that interactional justice be further broken down into interpersonal justice and informational justice dimensions. Interpersonal justice reflects the degree to which people are treated with politeness, dignity and respects by authorities involved in executing procedures or determining outcomes. Informational justice focuses on the information provided to people about why certain selected procedures were used and why or why not certain outcomes were distributed in a certain fashion. He based his argument on the logic that if interactional justice is used as a subset of procedural justice, it can hide some important differences among the constructs.

Moreover Colquitt (2001) in his four factor model found that the four dimensions had different distinct impact on different outcomes.

In order to support this line of argumentation, Colquitt et al (2001) conducted a metaanalysis, which consisted of 183 empirical studies. One of the objectives of the study was to study the individual impact of different forms of justice on various organizational outcomes. Results showed that interpersonal and informational justice were relatively weakly correlated (r = 0.16 and r = 0.26) to organizational commitment. Distributive justice and procedural justice were highly correlated to organizational commitment (r = 0.42 and r = 0.48) respectively.

2.1.5 Organizational justice and HR practices

Gilliland and his colleague (1996) explain that human resource practices and hiring/staffing decisions influence procedural and distributive justice evaluations along a number of justice dimensions. These justice dimensions included formal characteristics of the selection procedures, explanation offered during the selection process, interpersonal treatment during the selection process, and distributive justice of the hiring decision (Gilliland and colleague, 1996). Fairness perceptions and attitudinal and behavioral outcomes result from these justice evaluations. Gilliland and his colleague state that job applicants are also concerned with justice. Fairness perceptions of applicants have been related to satisfaction with the selection process, organizational effectiveness and intention to recommend the organization to others. Gilliland and colleague (2003) found out that if applicants perceived fairness during selection process they would accept even negative decisions like their rejection in a better way.

Gilliland and his colleague (1996) also link types of justice to stages of selection in terms of importance. They explain that different types of justice are salient during different stages in selection process. During recruiting and initial communication stage, informational justice becomes of primary concern. During screening and selection, procedural justice becomes salient. Finally during decision making and communication, both informational and distributive justice becomes salient. Provision of information about the selection decision and timeliness of information also play crucial role. Gilliland and colleague moreover suggest that interpersonal justice is salient in all stages of selection. If prospective employees feel at any stage of selection process that they are being treated rudely they perceive it to be unfair and unjust treatment.

Bies and Shapiro (1988) found that perceptions of procedural fairness in a recruiting scenario were greater when justification was offered for a negative decision than when no justification was offered.

Greenberg (1990) found that perceived fairness in pay was strongly correlated with pay satisfaction meaning that the more strongly employees believe their pays are fair, the more satisfied they are with their pay outcomes.

Amongst other dimensions of justice, procedural justice has been specifically linked to performance evaluation decisions (Korsgaard, 1995). They explain voice to be an important procedural justice determinant. Voice is a form of subordinate participation, which has long been cited as a means to enhance satisfaction with the appraisal process (Korsgaard, 1995). The construct of participation in the performance appraisal has also

been linked to a number of outcomes, such as attitudes and perceptions of the appraisal, motivation to improve and satisfaction with work and supervisor. That is, voice affects people's attitudes toward a decision because they feel they have had a chance to indirectly influence the decision. Another explanation given by Korsgaard (1995) is one in which voice is intrinsically valued regardless of whether the input influences the decision. That is, voice produces positive attitudes because it is a desired end in itself. The key distinction between these mechanisms of voice is the perceived potential to influence, regardless of whether voice had any impact on the decision.

It is also important to note that procedural and informational justice dimensions have also been linked to layoff decisions taken by the organization in the literature (Gilliland and Schepers, 2003). Gilliland et al noted that if fairness in procedures is adopted while making these decisions and if they are communicated in a nice manner to the victims, it not only lessens the pain to the victims but can also cause less negative attitudinal outcomes for the survivors. They further state that if on the contrary, the procedures are perceived to be unfair and communicated poorly it may lead to reduced productivity, job satisfaction and organizational commitment of survivors.

Literature suggests that justice perceptions of individuals differ depending upon the quality of relationship between leader and his subordinate, referred to as Leader-Member exchange (Scandura (1999). So it becomes important, for the purpose of this research, to study this specific leadership construct.

2.2 Leader- Member Exchange (LMX)

Amongst other leadership constructs, leader-member exchange has been chosen for the purpose of this study as it refers to the quality of the relationship between a supervisor and an employee (Graen & Scandura, 1987; Maertz et al, 2007). Whitener (1997) states that LMX focuses on the aspect of the leadership that is overlooked by other leadership constructs, which is formation of in group and out group members. An in - group is formed when the exchange relationship is high quality, meaning that it is characterized by a high degree of mutual trust, respect, and obligation. At the other extreme, is out – group which is characterized by low trust, respect, and obligation between leader and subordinate.

LMX theory suggests that leaders do not use the same style in dealing with all subordinates but rather develop a different type of relationship or exchange with each subordinate (Graen and Scandura, 1987). LMX may vary from low quality to high quality relationship. High quality LMX relationships involve exchanges that go beyond elements fundamental to employment contract.(Dansereau et al, 1975) These involve high degree of mutual respect, loyalty, trust, high degree of autonomy for the member and enhanced commitment and loyalty for the leader (Sherony et al 2002, p: 542). On the other hand individuals with low quality LMX relationship have weak social exchange relationship and low functional interdependence with both their subordinate and their employing organization. Low quality LMX relationships involve exchanges that are basic to employment contract like restricted to economic exchanges only. Employees as a result exhibit low trust, loyalty, respect and lack of commitment (Sherony and Green, 2002). However Wayne and colleagues (1997) in their article come to different conclusions. They suggest low quality LMX may not affect employee's intention to quit and their commitment towards their organization as they may perceive that their supervisor will

leave the organization sooner or later so even if some employees have unfair justice perception of their supervisor in their eyes it will not affect them in the long run.

2.2.1 Role of supervisor and different HR practices

Uhl-Bien et al (2000) highlight the importance of the quality of relationship between leader and member and its implications for HR. They state that organizations do not work in isolation; therefore to focus on HR functioning, focus should be realigned toward the right people, at the right place, at the right time and with the right kind of relationships (p: 144). They further explain that these high quality relationships can increase firm performance and satisfaction by 20%, compared to low LMX groupers. Low groupers result in being costly to organization, as a result, also exhibiting high turnover ratios; approximately almost every year all low LMX employees turn over. The employees react to the treatment they receive from the individual who carries out the procedures and distributive outcomes typically their supervisors (Whitener, 1997). Whitener (1997) states that the interpersonal treatment employees receive from their supervisor (such as adequately considering their view points, suppressing their personal biases, applying decision making criteria consistently, providing timely feed back after a decision and explaining a decision) strongly affects their perceptions of fairness.

Kingstrom and Mianstone (1985) found out that subordinates who have a favorable task and personal relationship with their supervisors receive significantly more favorable performance ratings and are more likely to receive promotions than other subordinates. Furthermore, the interpersonal relationship between a manager and a subordinate affects the content of performance appraisal feedback, including the subordinate's opportunity to participate in the review and discussion of important issues related to the subordinate's career (Kingstrom & Mainstone, 1985).

Literature review suggests that followers' job enrichment has been recognized among LMX scholars as an important component of the LMX leadership model, whereby followers engaged in higher-quality LMX relationships are likely to have been given more enriched work opportunities compared to followers in lower-quality LMX relationships (Laurent et al, 2006) Graen & Uhl-Bien (1995) referred to job enrichment in their LMX model of leadership. They explained that leaders can influence different characteristics of followers' jobs, including giving more autonomy at work, assigning more challenging tasks that require use of different skill sets, entrusting them with whole projects, and delegating responsibilities of greater importance, resulting in higher job enrichment.

Moreover, it was found that high LMX relationships influenced feelings of psychological and structural empowerment of employees at the workplace (Laschinger et al, 2007). Such employees felt empowered in terms of having meaning in their work and confidence in their ability to perform in the given role. They are more likely to feel that their work environments empower them to accomplish their work in meaningful ways. As a result, they are more likely to be satisfied and committed with their jobs. Because job satisfaction and commitment has been shown to be one of the strongest predictors of intent to leave one's job, these results illuminate factors that must be addressed to retain mangers. Kidd and Smewing (2001) defined the role of supervisor as gatekeeper to the organization and the person to be in direct contact with individual employees (subordinates). They suggest that role of supervisor is crucial for employees since employees depend on them for support, feedback and assessment of appraisal systems. Theory also suggests that supervisors have stronger impact on workers well being compared to workers relationships with co workers (e.g. Hopkins, 1997).

Whitener (1997) found that employees trust in their supervisor forms their perceptions of the success, accuracy and fairness of HR system used by the organization. Folger and Konovsky (1989) reinforced this view when they found that the process used by supervisors to make decisions would have a greater impact on fairness perceptions of employees than the pay raise outcomes themselves.

Erdogan (2002) studied justice perceptions in the use of performance appraisals as performance appraisal is an important HR practice having implications for important individual decisions (e.g. pay raises and promotions etc). Supervisors have been viewed as key persons in forming justice perceptions about performance appraisals as they are the main evaluators of individual's performance. Erdogan (2002) termed them as most influential raters. It has also been suggested by Ergodan that individuals assume that members having high quality LMX will have positive outcomes such as career progress and salary progress During the performance appraisal process, it is the supervisor who communicates with the member as a result of which individuals interactional justice perceptions are shaped. Similarly individual's distributive justice perceptions are formed by their supervisors as they decide the final performance rating of the individual. It might be noted that some of the researchers differentiated procedural and interactional justice by assuming that supervisor's behaviors can affect only interactional justice and not procedural justice

Erdogan (2002) contributed to the literature on justice perceptions regarding performance appraisals by dividing procedural justice in to two sub dimensions. *Rater procedural justice* refers to perceived fairness of procedures raters use during performance appraisals, whereas system procedural justice refers to perceived fairness of the performance appraisal procedures adopted by the organization. So Erdogan (2002) also highlighted the role of supervisor in forming procedural; justice perceptions of employees in the area of performance appraisals.

Renwick and MacNeil (2002) highlight the role of supervisor by bringing in to light the fact that supervisors have been devolved to perform important HR tasks including involvement in attracting and retaining of employees, decisions regarding pay raises, promotions, work assignments and roles, designing of career paths and decisions regarding developing opportunities including nominations in training programs. Role of leaders and supervisors also becomes very important because they bring sense of direction and motivation to their subordinates. (Bloisi et al, 2003). They further explain that it is these leaders who, on the behalf of their employing organization, communicate the goals of the organization to the subordinates, set purpose for the subordinates, assign them specific tasks, supervise their work and evaluate their performances later on to determine their respective rewards according to the already laid down procedures.

As regards the dimensions of LMX, Graen (1976) presented a unidimensional model of LMX. The model was based on work behaviors of leaders and subordinates. He used role

theory and social exchange theory to support their model. According to role theory (Graen, 1976) leaders assign different roles to their subordinates and subordinates comply with these roles/work assignments in varying degrees. The higher the compliance with the task demand, the greater the level of trust established by the leader in the subordinate and vice versa. Based on the compliance of task demand and subsequent establishment of different levels of trust on different subordinates, leaders reciprocate the subordinates with different work related resources such as information, challenging task assignments and autonomy (Graen and Scandura, 1987). This provision of resources by the leader in return to task behaviors exhibited by the subordinate represent exchange (Graen and Scandura, 1987).

A multidimensional conceptualization of LMX was first presented by Dienesch and Liden (1986). They explained three dimensions of LMX in their studies although they did not strictly limit their conclusions for only there dimensions of LMX and acknowledged possibility for some other dimensions of LMX also. First dimension they refer to in their work is Contribution. In their words contribution may be defined as "perception of the amount, direction, and quality of work-oriented activity each member puts forth toward the mutual goals (explicit or implicit) of the dyad" (1986: 624). It means that based on the performance of subordinates, leaders form high quality relationships with good performers and low quality relationships with low performers. Another dimension of LMX as provided by Dienesch and Liden (1986) is loyalty. They explain loyalty as the extent to which leader and member are loyal to each other and the extent to which they publicly support each other's actions. It is expected that leaders will assign more challenging tasks and tasks that require independent judgment and responsibility to more loyal members (Scandura et al, 1986). Affect is the third dimension used by Dienesch and Liden (1986) in their studies. They defined affect as "the mutual affection members of the dyad have for each other based primarily on interpersonal attraction rather than work or professional values" (1986: 625). The degree of liking has been found an important determinant of LMX and interpersonal interaction and is expected to be involved in developing LMXs to varying degrees with different subordinates (Dienesch and Liden 1986).

The same point of view has also been supported by Heneman et al (1989) when they state that leaders holding high expectations of subordinates may be more likely to attribute their good behavior to their internal qualities and poor behavior to the forces external to them or beyond their control; however situation would be reverse if leaders have low expectations of the subordinates. Feldman and Leana (1986) noted that leader expectations may also influence their behavior towards members. High leader expectations towards a subordinate may translate into the assignments of dedicated tasks, having more variety, lesser routine and more autonomy while low expectations of leader from subordinate may lead to routine like tasks, less feedback and few training opportunities (Feldman and Leana 1986).

It might be noted that Liden and Maslyn (1998) concluded that in LMXs that are workbased with contribution being the most important LMX dimension, affect may play little or no role in the exchange. On the other hand, some LMXs according to them may be dominated by affect. For example, the leader and member frequently interact simply because they enjoy each other's company. Unlike the previous authors, Liden and Maslyn (1998) gave a four factor model of LMX, which they developed after conducting a confirmatory factor analysis. Other than the three dimensions of LMX previously explained they introduced another dimension to LMX namely professional respect. They define it as "perception of the degree to which each member of the dyad has built a reputation, within and/or outside the organization, of excelling at his or her line of work" (1998: 50). They explain that this perception of the individual can also be based on personal meeting with the subordinate or there can also be perception about the individual even before meeting him based on comments about him from inside or outside the organization.

There is likely to be more freedom for supervisors to develop relationships with the employees under him/her. Supervisors also form individual relationships with their employees and employees may be attached to a supervisor or have different attitudes to supervisors than to the organization as a whole. Because supervisors do have more daily contact with their employees, there is more opportunity for them to show support to employees, and when they provide important benefits on a regular basis, such as feedback or recommendations, they are likely to create positive feelings and trust among employees (Maertz et al, 2007). Supervisors who appear to be highly regarded by the organization would be assumed by workers to strongly embody the organization's character

2.3 Organizational commitment

Another variable used for the purpose of this proposed study is organizational commitment which acts as an outcome variable of organizational justice (Steers, 1997). There is a vast variety of literature on the subject of commitment, its definition, antecedents and consequences, and also it has been defined in a number of ways. (Meyer and Herscovich, 2001; O'Reilly and Chatman, 1986). A lot of importance has been attached to this construct because of its important consequences for the organization. Mowday, Porter & Dubin (1974) link commitment to performance when they state that highly committed employees are expected to perform better than less committed ones.

Organizational commitment in a general sense may be defined as an employee's engagement which restricts freedom of action (as defined in Oxford English dictionary). . Allen & Meyer (1990, p. 14) defined organizational commitment as "A psychological state that binds an individual to the organization (i.e., makes turnover less likely)." Meyer and Herscovich (2001) developed a general model of commitment. They defined commitment as a stabilizing or obliging force that gives direction to behavior (e.g. restricts freedom, binds the person to a course of action (2001: 301). They explained various conceptualizations of commitment and distinguished it from related constructs (e.g. motive and attitudes). They propose that commitment is more than merely a motive

to engage in a particular course of action or a positive attitude towards an entity that predisposes an individual to behave ion manner that is beneficial to the entity on the whole. They further state that commitment is also more than a state of mind that exists when an individual experiences a positive exchange relationship with some entity and it is also more than simply a positive attitude (2001, p. 301). A similar line of argumentation has been given by various other authors, thus, supporting the conceptualizations of commitment explained by Meyer and his colleague, for example, Brickman (1987) noted that commitment is different from motivation or general attitudes; it influences behavior independently of different motives and attitudes. Highly committed employees may lead individuals to behave in ways that are contrary even to their self- interests.

2.3.1 Conceptualizations of organizational commitment

There have been disagreements in literature regarding the dimensionality of commitment as to whether it is unidimensional or multidimensional construct. (Becker, 1960; Mowday, Steers and Porter; 1979, Allen and Meyer; 1990).

Allen and Meyer (1990) presented a three component model to explain organizational commitment and conducted two studies to verify their model. The construct was noted to be having three main dimensions: affective, continuance and normative. They characterize commitment in to these three dimensions on the basis of different mind sets. Affective commitment refers to identification with, involvement in, and emotional attachment to the organization. Thus employees having strong affective commitment remain in the organization because they want to do so (Allen and Meyer, 1990:1). Continuance commitment relates to the costs associated with leaving the current job which may include organizational and individual investments in career building of individual and may include economic losses such as pension accruals and social costs such as friendship ties with co-workers that would have to be given up .Individuals thus with strong continuance commitment remain with the organization because they have to do so. Normative commitment is a sense of obligation that an employee feels towards its company. Employee may feel obliged toward his organization for many reasons. For example, the company might have invested in his training and skill development that he wants to reciprocate by offering his services. Employees thus with strong normative commitment remain in the organization because they ought to do so.

Allen and Meyer (1990) developed scales to measure these components. In study one, relationships among the components of commitment and with hypothesized antecedents of each component were examined. It was found that although there was some overlap between affective and normative commitment, both were relatively independent of continuance commitment. Results of a correlation analysis done in study two suggested that, as predicted by the model, the affective and continuance components of organizational commitment are empirically distinguishable constructs with different correlates. The affective and normative components, although distinguishable, appear to be somewhat related.

Prior to that, Becker (1960) presented his side bets theory and explained the concept of continuance commitment to be a sub dimensional construct. Side bets theory states that an individual becomes bound to an organization because of anything of value (time, effort, money, e.g. pension, seniority, organization specific skills etc) that would be lost if he leaves the organization. In addition to this perceived cost of leaving, an individual also considers perceived lack of alternatives which bound him to the organization. This economic rationale of commitment was labeled as continuance commitment by Meyer and Allen (1984). However some of the researchers viewed commitment as attitudinal and conceptualized commitment as emotional attachment to organization (e.g. Steers, 1977; Mowday, Steers and Porter, 1979). This sense of emotional attachment has been labeled as affective commitment by Meyer and Allen (1984).

Meyer and Allen (1984) developed their own measures to test Becker's side bets theory (continuance commitment conceptualization) and the affective commitment conceptualization. They noted that these two dimensions of commitment are distinct, unrelated and independent of each other. It means that according to them one's degree of

affective attachment to the organization does not affect his degree of continuance commitment and vice versa.

McGee & Ford conducted a study in 1987 to reexamine the scales used by Meyer and Allen (1984) to measure the two dimensions of commitment. They found that while affective commitment was one-dimensional, continuance commitment consists out of two-sub dimensions. The first dimension was based on perceptions that few employment alternatives exist and the second on high personal sacrifice associated with leaving the organization. This noting of McGee and Ford strengthened the side bet theory originally presented by Becker. However unlike Meyer and Allen (1984) noting that continuance commitment and affective commitment were unrelated, McGee and Ford found that the two continuance commitment subscales were significantly, though differentially, related to affective commitment.

Dunham, Grube and Casteneda (1994) examined the psychometric characteristics (reliability and factor structure) of the Allen and Meyer (1990) scales. Furthermore, the relationships between the various organizational commitment dimensions and a number of antecedents selected on the basis of prior empirical research and conceptual arguments were also examined in the study. The results supported the findings of Allen and Meyer (1990) by drawing the conclusion that confirmatory factor analysis consistently demonstrate better fit between affective and normative commitment items define separate factors. However it was also found that correlations between affective and normative commitment are very high. Moreover, results also supported the two sub dimensions of continuance commitment construct i.e. personal sacrifice and lack of alternatives.

Allen and Meyer (1996) conducted a research to evaluate their previous findings about the multidimensionality of commitment construct and found evidence supporting their previous hypotheses. However it might also be noted that different studies about the normative and affective commitment construct still show conflicting results.

Meyer et al (2002) conducted a Meta analysis with the aim to estimate the correlations between variables identified in Meyer and Allen's three component model explained above. The focus of this analysis was on the validity and generalizability of the model on the whole, unlike Meyer and Allen (1996) who tested the validity of commitment scales used in the three component model. Meyer et al (2002) concluded that although there were some differences in the correlations of different commitment dimensions, but overall, the model was generalizable outside North – America. Their Meta analysis, moreover, supported the existence of Affective and Normative commitment as distinct construct; with higher correlations but not perfect correlation. The study also supported side bets theory (Becker, 1960) by validating the two subcomponents of Continuance commitment. However they suggested future research to refine Continuance commitment scale by including more items reflecting perceived sacrifice.

2.3.2 Foci of commitment

Foci of commitment are the different individuals and groups to whom an employee feels attached (Reichers, 1985). Different foci of commitment may include professions, unions, organizations, supervisors, higher management, goal and career. Similarly according to Becker (1992) workers can be: (1) locally committed to supervisors and coworkers, (2) globally committed to occupations, top management and organization as a whole, (3)

committed (attached to both local and global foci) and (4) the uncommitted (who are attached to neither local nor global foci).

Reichers (1985) found that the focus of commitment (i.e., to whom employees are committed) is an important dimension in assessing worker attachment. When commitment is directed at *specific* foci, differences in commitment will not be related to other attitudes and behaviors *in general*, but, rather, will be related to other attitudes and behaviors with respect to the specific foci (Becker and Billings, 1993: 183). They further explain that the locally committed will be more satisfied with supervisor and co-workers than will the globally committed and will engage in more pro social behavior directed at supervisor and co-workers than will the globally committed on the other hand will be more satisfied with the top management and the organization on the whole and will exhibit behaviors such as lower intention to quit. These results have important implications for our research.

Literature study shows (e.g. Reichers, 1985) that making distinctions between several foci of commitment is useful, but this research will focus on commitment of PhD students towards University of Twente on the whole as this focus of commitment is an important outcome of organizational justice and the study aims to highlight the role played by supervisor in forming fairness perceptions of employees regarding HR policies and their consequences for this construct. Moreover organizational commitment is found to be directly related to turnover intentions and one of the added benefit of this research can be to come up to the suggestions that can be helpful in retention of scientific employees and their increased commitment level towards the organization on the whole.

2.4 Turnover intentions

Intention to leave refers to individuals' perceived likelihood that they will be staying or leaving the employer organization (Igbara, M & colleague; 1999). Mobley (1977) pioneered a comprehensive explanation for the psychological process underlying intent to quit. According to his formulation of the withdrawal decision process dissatisfaction leads to thoughts about quitting. There are a number of possible mediating steps between dissatisfaction and actual quitting. First, one of the consequences of dissatisfaction is to inspire thoughts of leaving. These thoughts, in turn, stimulate consideration of the behavioral intention to search for an alternative. The intention to search is followed by an actual search. If alternatives are available, an evaluation of the present job to the alternatives. If the comparison favors the alternatives, it will inspire a behavioral intention to quit, followed by actual withdrawal. Cotton and Tuttle (1986) also found that overall job satisfaction with the work itself, pay satisfaction, and satisfaction with supervision were negatively associated with turnover

2.5 LMX and organizational justice

As explained before, according to LMX theory, leaders have limited resources such as discretion and time and they selectively distribute these resources among different group members. These exchange relationships between leaders and subordinates form employees' justice perceptions of organizational policies and practices just as distributive and procedural justice aspects. This perception in turn influences their attitudes and

behaviors. Scandura (1999) examined literature on LMX from organizational justice perspective and studied the relationship between the two constructs. He noted the attitudes and behaviors of employees falling into the categories of in group members (having high quality relationship) and out group members (having low quality relationship). He had different findings compared to other researchers who found that ingroup members receive more work related benefits in comparison to out-group members. Scandura suggests that differentiation of members in to in group and out group does not necessarily translate into organizational in justice. It rather depends on the perceptions of the members about the leader. If members perceive their leaders to use fair procedures for allocation of rewards etc, then they will perceive procedural justice and not injustice. Likewise, if members receive from their supervisor correct communication about reasons for distribution of rewards, then again interactional justice will be perceived by members despite members belonging to different groups. It is through proper way of communication (interactional justice) that even perceptions of employees of procedural and distributive injustice (in the cases where they make social comparisons) can also be changed (Scandura, 1999: 6).

Masterson, Lewis, Goldman, and Taylor (2000) investigated employee relationships with both their supervisor and the employing organization. These authors found that interactional justice improved the quality of leader-member exchange, which, in turn, increased job performance and raised job satisfaction. In other words, individuals not only generated separate justice perceptions based on the source of the treatment (the individual supervisor vs. the overall organization), but they also set up different patterns of reciprocity associated with each source. Wayne & colleagues (1997) also suggest that Supervisors are often instrumental in determining salary increases and bonuses as well as in providing career advice, task and training opportunities, emotional support and information. Superiors may also introduce subordinates to key individuals in other parts of their organization. This introduction leads to expansion of social network of employees, which may in turn lead to additional dividends such as greater visibility, information and other forms of support. Consequently employees may perceive higher level of interactional justice which leads to increased sense of commitment.

Dansereau et al (1995) suggest that successful leaders do not treat all their employees similarly; rather they individualize their relationships with employees according to the needs and motivations of each one of them. Hooper and Martin (2008) suggest that leaders should maintain appearance of equal treatment among coworkers where high solidarity in team is required (P: 27). Similarly leaders may need to allocate tangible resources differently among members according to their specific nature of tasks (equity rules) but they should distribute intangible resources in the form of regard, respect, trust and obligation equally to all team members (equality rules)

Lind and Tyler (1988) presented Relational Model of justice and linked justice perception directly to the role of supervisor and authority figures. They explained that if individuals have positive relationship with their supervisor they perceive fairness in procedures used by the organization. These perceptions of organizational justice are important because they eventually result in outcomes that affect both the employee and the employing organization directly, as mentioned above.

Ambrose and colleagues (2002) explain that if an employee perceives an injustice from the structural or organizational source they are expected to retaliate against the organization on the whole, but when they perceive this injustice to be related to supervisors they may retaliate either to supervisor alone or to the organization on the whole.

2.5.1 LMX Promoter and LMX Tutor

A PhD student is supervised by daily tutor and promoter during the tenure of his research. In UT, not all the PhD candidates have both a daily supervisor (tutor) and a promoter, although most of them have. A distinction is being made between LMX tutor and LMX promoter to explore the independent influences of the two sub scales of LMX on justice perceptions of PhD's and their subsequent effect on commitment with UT and turnover intent. It is assumed that since both tutor and promoter have different degree of influence over various HR practices, the quality of LMX with them may also generate varying levels of justice, commitment and turnover intents. For example the tutor is expected to have direct and much greater influence over the work content, nominating the student for various courses, performance appraisal etc.

The above mentioned various aspects of theory lead us to the development of following hypothesis:

H1: The quality of LMX influences PhD candidates' justice perceptions regarding various HR practices positively.

2.6 Organizational Justice, Organizational Commitment and Turnover intent

As mentioned before, various authors found a relationship between organizational justice perceptions of employees and organizational commitment. However, how different dimensions of organizational justice interact with different forms of commitment is still a point of conflict between authors, as different study findings support different hypothesis drawn by authors. McFarlin and Sweeney (1992) conducted a survey on bank employees and found that distributive justice ended to be a stronger predictor of personal outcomes than procedural justice, whereas the reverse was true for organizational outcomes. The fairness of a firm's procedures may have a greater impact on organizational commitment than the fairness of distributive outcomes that workers receive, perhaps because procedures define the organization's capacity to treat employees fairly. Thus, if they see procedures as fair, employees may view the organization positively, even if they are currently dissatisfied with such personal outcomes as a low pay raise. It was also found out that fair procedures also lead to positive evaluations of the supervisors. Result of regression analysis done by Mcfarlin and Sweeney support this noting of theirs (1992). Briefly, according to referent cognitions theory, as explained before, individuals evaluate their work experiences by reflecting on "what might have been" under different circumstances and conditions (Folger, 1986a). The findings by Sweeney and Mcfarlin (1992) support the applications of Referent cognitions theory given by Cropanzano and Folger's (1989) stating that the outcomes of subordinate's evaluation of supervisor and organizational commitment would be most negative when both distributive and procedural justice are low. But positive evaluations would be expected when procedural justice is high, regardless of the level of distributive justice.

It might however be noted that the studies done by Lowe and Vodanovich (1995) on a sample of university employees showed different findings. They concluded that outcomes

(distributive justice) were a better predictor of organizational commitment than elements of procedural justice. These findings have been explained with the view that temporal factors may affect perceptions of organizational justice, that is, that the relative significance of Procedural Justice and Distributive Justice Judgments varies over time.

The following conclusion may be drawn from the variance in results of studies done by above mentioned authors. Sweeney and Mcfarlin conducted their research to study employee reactions to organizational procedures in general and in normal circumstances. However, Lowe and Vodanovich (1995) conducted their research soon after restructuring and job classifications took place in the university setting so employee reactions might be different and they attaching the organizational outcomes of satisfaction and trust in supervisor and organizational commitment more to distributive outcomes than to procedural outcomes. Another possible reason behind distributive justice as a better predictor of attitudinal outcomes of employees might be that employees are not exactly aware of the procedures used by the organization and therefore rely on outcomes.

Prior empirical research has provided considerable evidence that the level of organizational justice is directly related to the quality of social exchange relationships between individuals and their employing organizations and has proven to be a significant predictor of a number of important employee attitudes and behaviors including job satisfaction, organizational commitment, organizational citizenship behavior and intentions to leave (Masterson et al, 2000; Rupp and Cropanzano, 2002). Malatasta and Byrne (1997) tested the proposition that procedural and interactional justice differ because they are associated with different distinct outcomes of social exchange relationships. According to their model, perceptions of procedural justice are based on an organization's formal policies. They found that individuals reciprocate perceptions of fairness in procedures by exhibiting organizational commitment and organizational citizenship behavior. Furthermore, they suggested different outcomes of interactional justice thus making a distinction between procedural and interactional justice. They showed in their findings that interactional justice perceptions of individuals lead them to reciprocation in form of commitment and organizational citizenship behavior directed towards supervisor. Masterson et al (1997) arrived at similar conclusion. They suggested in their studies that procedural justice involves social exchange with the employing organization. Perceptions of procedural justice give employees feelings of POS which gives higher sense of organizational commitment and fewer intentions to quit. Malatasta et al (1997) moreover, concluded that interactional justice on the other hand, causes high quality leader-member exchange which in turn results in organizational citizenship behavior related to supervisor and higher job satisfaction. They tested their model with two studies both of which supported their hypothesis and theoretical explanations. As was found for LMX, distributive justice was a consistent predictor of commitment as well. This demonstrates that organizations that provide equitable and fair rewards for their employees can increase the level of commitment shown by their employees.

Similarly Rupp & Cropanzano (2002) suggested a negative relationship between justice perceptions of employees and their intent to leave in their findings.

We develop the following hypothesis based on literature:

H2: The justice perceptions of PhD candidates regarding various HR practices influence their organizational commitment positively.

H3: The justice perceptions of PhD candidates regarding various HR practices influence their intent to turnover negatively.

2.7 LMX, Commitment and Turnover intent

Research on LMX has shown significant associations with many important work outcomes. For example, LMX is negatively related to turnover and turnover intentions (Vecchio and Gobdel, 1984) and positively related to organizational commitment (Duchon, Green, & Taber, 1986). LMX quality has been found to be a consistent predictor of job-related attitudes such as organizational commitment and satisfaction with supervision, and behaviors such as performance and organizational citizenship behaviors (Kidd and Smewing, 2001). Stinglhamber et al (2003) state that employee's perception of the support of their supervisors (PSS), lead to their emotional attachment to the supervisor (affective commitment). This affective commitment will be developed through satisfying intrinsic job conditions as they increase feelings of care and respect from supervisors and can let employees feel that they are valued by their supervisor Supervisors can influence these conditions through providing opportunities for challenge and personal development. This authority is mostly absent in the case of the tangible, extrinsically satisfying job conditions such as pay and benefits which are often established by the organization or HR specialists. Supervisors then may not only represent but also partly replace the organization in keeping their employees motivated and willing to stay (Stinglhamber et al., 2003)

Kacmar, Carlson and Brymer (1999) studied the antecedents and consequences of organizational commitment. Amongst other antecedents like age, gender and marital status, they also studied LMX and distributive justice constructs. Their statistical findings showed significant relationship between LMX, and commitment (p. 989). The exchange quality of the relationship between the supervisors and subordinates in the sample used (i.e. LMX) did directly affect the subordinates' feelings of commitment to the organization. Specifically, the better the relationship, the more committed the employees. LMX was noted to be equally related to all forms of commitment, indicating that supervisors can make a big difference in the commitment level of their employees.

Hooper and Martin (2008) conducted research on two different samples of employees to study the affects of perceived LMX variability on employee reactions and concluded that personal LMX quality was a strong predictor of employee reactions while perceived LMX variability was related to employee job satisfaction, organizational commitment and well being. It is suggested by their research that if a person perceives that he is being treated favorably by his leader compared to his coworker, he considers this differential treatment as fair, but if the coworker is being treated as favorably, then the worker considers it as unfair by the leader. This unequal treatment by the leader to the members of the same team/group may lead to elements of distrust and conflict among co workers.

Likewise, the LMX literature demonstrates that the quality of LMX is consistently related to organizational turnover intentions, meaning the higher the quality of LMX, the lower the employees' intentions to leave the organization (Vecchio & Gobdel, 1984). Furthermore, they have proposed and found a negative relationship between LMX quality and turnover intentions. Dansereau et al. (1975) support the same findings and explain that this inverse relation is because employees in high quality LMX enjoy high levels of

trust, emotional support, and related benefits compared to their lower-quality LMX counterparts and vice versa.

The following relationship is hypothesized:

H4: The quality of LMX influences PhD candidates' Organizational commitment positively.

H5: The quality of LMX influences PhD candidates' intent to turnover negatively.

2.8 The meditation conditions

Baron and Kenny (1986) studied distinction between moderator and mediator variable and explained various mediation conditions for the two variables. They explain that a variable can be termed as mediator when: (i) the independent variable (LMX) significantly affects the mediator (distributive justice/procedural justice/interpersonal justice and informational justice) shown by path a in figure below; (ii) the independent variable significantly affects the dependent variables (organizational commitment, and turnover intentions) shown by path c ; (iii) the mediators have significant unique effects on the dependent variable shown by path b; and (iv) the effect of the independent variable on the dependent variables shrinks upon the addition of the mediator to the model. According to Baron and Kenny (1986), after controlling for the mediator variables (distributive justice/procedural justice/interpersonal justice and informational justice, path a and b in the model below), the power of the independent variable (LMX) to predict the dependent variables (organizational commitment, and turnover intention) should become significantly smaller (for partial mediation effect) or non-significant (for full mediation effect). Partial mediation, according to them, indicates the existence of other mediator variables also in the relationship between dependant and independent variables, while full mediation indicates that there is no other mediator variable in the model. This means that after controlling for mediator variable path c becomes almost non significant or near to zero.



Fig.1 Model developed by Baron and Kenny to explain mediation (1986)

2.8.1 Mediation effects of various justice dimensions

This study predicts that distributive, procedural, interpersonal and informational justice will mediate the relationships among LMX, organizational commitment, and turnover

intentions. As established in the literature study LMX influences positively subordinates attitudinal variables such as organizational commitment and is negatively related to turnover intent. Also LMX is associated with subordinates' perceptions of organizational fairness. The previous discussion about the relationships among perceptions of organizational justice and specified outcomes variables shows that employees' justice perceptions may affect their attitudes and interactions at work. Thus, LMX is related to work-related outcome variables because LMX affects an employee's perceptions of fairness, in that a leader treats him or her fairly in terms of outcomes and procedures. This perception of fairness may prompt the employee to reciprocate with increased organizational commitment, and decreased turnover intentions. The above discussion suggests the proposition that perceptions of organizational justice will mediate the effects of LMX on work-related outcome variables. There has not been much research showing this mediating role of various dimensions of organizational justice in LMX and work/organizational outcomes. The following hypothesis is developed:

H6: Perception of organizational justice regarding various HR practices mediates the relationship between LMX and organizational commitment of PhD candidates.

H7: Perception of organizational justice mediates the relationship between LMX and turnover intent of PhD candidates.

2.9 Conclusion literature review

It can be concluded from literature study that PhD students regard their supervisor, be it tutor and/or promoter, as important sources of justice. They r have direct authority over organizational decisions important to them, for example in designing their task content, performance evaluations, grant of autonomy, career development and training opportunities (nominating in seminars, conferences or other short courses) etc. So it can be stated that satisfaction with one's supervisor is an important determinant of satisfaction with one's employing organization (UT for our research context) which ultimately leads to higher organizational commitment. An implication from this research is that promoters and tutors should provide visible sings of support to PhD's so that they perceive that their respective supervisor cares about their wellbeing.

3 Research Model

Based on the literature review and on the hypothesis we come up with the following model



Fig.2 Theoretical framework of antecedents and consequences of Organizational Justice

3.1 Research Methodology

This chapter presents the research methodology utilized to investigate the relationships among organizational justice, LMX and organizational commitment and turnover intent at UT. In this chapter, the conceptual model and the research hypotheses of the study developed on the basis of literature review have been tested. In addition, the sample characteristics, data collection procedures, the administration of questionnaires, and the measures are presented. The statistical analysis that is used in the present study is also discussed.

3.2 Site

For the purpose of analysis and to solve the research questions, data was collected using population of local and foreign PhD students at the University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands. It was founded in 1961 and offers education and research in areas ranging from public policy studies and applied physics to biomedical technology. The UT is the Netherlands' only campus university. The University of Twente is the site of a broad range of research projects in technological, scientific and socio scientific disciplines. Research at the UT is mainly of a 'fundamental-strategic' nature: it focuses on issues which break fresh scientific ground and, at the same time, respond to needs in society. It is impossible to imagine research at the UT without this focus on practical usage. It underlies numerous new applications, appliances, systems and methods. In addition, the UT is a place for fundamental research, spurred on by the curiosity of its scientists.

The organization has a total scientific staff of approximately 620 employees. The rationale for selecting this university is the convenient and easy access to data and chances of a higher response rate and its appropriateness for the research questions,

leading to higher reliability, The organization's management is interested in increasing organizational commitment level of its scientific staff and also in attracting and retaining talented employees and agreed to participate in the study of examining the relationship between employees' beliefs regarding justice perceptions and employees' organizational commitment.

3.3 Population

The target population for this study included PhD students currently doing their research at the University of Twente and all of them having a supervisor. All PhD's with different kind of employment contracts were included. All other employees were excluded for the purpose of this research. Few studies have examined this kind of research especially in the University setting. Thus, the study could offer a new context to test external validity, the generalizability of existing evidence, and provide new insights into the area of organizational justice and LMX.

3.4 Study variables

In this study four scales were used to measure the constructs of interest. They included (1) employees' organizational commitment (affective commitment, continuance commitment and normative commitment) as the dependent variable under investigation (2) Intention to leave as another dependant variable, (3) LMX as an independent variable and (4) Organizational justice as a possible mediator variable. Measures designed to collect demographic information about the subjects, including sex, education; job status, job title, and length of employment were also used.

3.5 Scale

The items used for measuring scales are annexed in Appendix 1.

3.6 The survey instrument and data collection

The survey was developed online and distributed via email to all departments of the university in the target population. The platform of P-Nut (PhD's network association) was used for the purpose. The initial draft of the questionnaire was sent to the PhD experts of the university (P-Nut board members) for their feedback to ensure the face validity and readability of scale items. Based on their feedback the wording of some of the questions was slightly modified.

There are a total of 620 PhD candidates in the university out of which 550 are registered with the P-Nut. Questionnaires were therefore sent to 550 PhD's in cooperation with the P-Nut board members.

Questionnaires were sent online to 550 PhD students out of a total of 620 at the UT. 136 questionnaires were filled out of 550 and out of these 136, completely filled in questionnaires were 122 giving a response rate of 22%. The remaining 14 responses were excluded for the purpose of analysis due to excessive missing data. The demographic statistics for the employees are described in Table 1.

U.Twente

Personal Data	No of Respondents	Percentage
Gender		
Male	80	66
Female	42	44
No. of years at UT		
Less than 1 year	18	15
1 year – less than 2 years	37	30.3
2 years – less than 3 years	31	25.4
3 years – less than 4 years	19	15.57
4 years – 5 years	11	0.09
More than 5 years	06	0.05
No. of children < 12		
Yes	14	11.48
No	108	88.52
Department		
MB	32	26.2
GW	09	0.07
EWI	36	29.5
CTW	21	17.2
TNW	24	19.7
Nationality		
Dutch	70	57.3
German	02	0.016
Other EU country	12	0.098
Other non EU country	38	31.14
Employment status		
AIO	95	77.8
OIO	05	0.04
Lecturer	0	0
Researcher	4	0.0327
Assistant professor	0	0
Scholarship student	06	0.0491
Non employed, my contract		
expired	0	0
Non employed (so called	00	0.0655
external PhD candidate	08	0.0655

Table 1: Demographic characteristics of the respondents (N=122)

Tests of internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) were conducted to assess the reliability of each of the scales used. All of the measures included in the questionnaire showed adequate levels of internal consistency reliability. The internal reliability for the measures ranged from .262 for the measure of affective commitment to .980 for the measure of interpersonal justice tutor. Table 2 reports the descriptive statistics for the measures used, including mean, standard deviation, and internal consistency reliability for each measure.

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics and Reliability Estimates of Scales Used (N=122)

Variables	No. of items	Mean	SD	Alpha
Distributive Justice	32	3.24	0.89	0.95
Procedural Justice	4	3.13	0.80	0.84
Interpersonal Justice Promoter	4	3.86	1.00	0.97
Interpersonal Justice Tutor	4	3.77	1.05	0.98
Informational Justice Promoter	5	3.29	1.00	0.93
Informational Justice Tutor	5	3.35	0.99	0.96
LMX Promoter	15	3.37	1.05	0.96
LMX (Tutor)	15	3.39	0.94	0.97
Affective Commitment	8	2.96	1.03	0.26
Continuance Commitment	8	2.83	1.01	0.55
Normative Commitment	7	2.82	0.92	0.30
Turnover Intent	4	3.20	1.33	0.90

The SD for Interpersonal justice Promoter, interpersonal justice tutor, Informational justice Promoter, LMX Promoter, continuance commitment and Turnover intent shows values higher than one, meaning that for these scales, responses of candidates varied greatly from their means.

3.7 Statistical analysis and results

In order to test the hypothesis' H1, LMX Promoter and LMX tutor were regressed separately on all the dimensions of organizational justice one by one to show their relative influence. Table 3 presents the results.

Table 3: Regression results for LMX and Justice dimensions of the model

Constructs	Distrib utive Justice Std. β	Procedural Justice Std.β	Interpersona 1 Justice (Promoter) Std.β	Interperso nal Justice (Tutor) Std.β	Information al Justice (Promoter) Std.β	Informatio nal Justice (Tutor) Std.β
LMX (Promoter) LMX (Tutor)	0.98 0.98	0.96 0.98	0.98 0.98	0.97 0.99	0.98 0.97	0.97 0.98

Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level

The estimated model shows highly significant effect of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor on all dimensions of organizational justice thereby supporting the above stated hypothesis.

Table 4: Regression results for Justice dimensions and outcome variables of the model

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β	Normative Commitment Std. β	Turnover Intent Std. β
Distributive Justice	0.98	0.98	0.98	-0.5
Procedural Justice	0.98	0.97	0.98	-0.41
Interpersonal Justice (Promoter)	0.96	0.95	0.96	-0.39
Interpersonal Justice (Tutor)	0.96	0.96	0.96	-0.39
Informational Justice (Promoter)	0.97	0.96	0.97	-0.52
Informational Justice (Tutor)	0.98	0.97	0.98	-0.40

Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level

Table 4 shows regression results between various dimensions of justice commitment and turnover intent. Again the results support hypothesis H2 and H3 by demonstrating highly significant beta coefficient values for commitment scale and significantly negative beta values for turnover intent showing negative relation between justice and turnover as hypothesized.

Table 5: Regression results for LMX and outcome variables of the model

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β	Normative Commitment Std. β	Turnover Intent Std. β
LMX (Promoter)	0.97	0.96	0.97	-0.57
LMX (Tutor)	0.98	0.96	0.97	-0.51

Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level

Table 5 shows regression results between LMX Promoter, LMX tutor, affective commitment, continuance commitment, normative commitment and turnover intent. Again the results support hypothesis H4 and H5 by demonstrating highly significant positive beta coefficient values for commitment and negative beta values for turnover intent.

Table 6: Regression results for LMX, Affective commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment and turnover when distributive justice acts as mediator variable

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β	Normative Commitment Std. β	Turnover Intent Std. β			
Distributive justice	0.74	0.96	0.85	-0.53			
LMX Promoter	0.06	-0.02	0.13	-0.71			
LMX tutor	0.19	-0.01	0.10	0.06			
Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level							

Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level

To test the mediating effects of distributive, procedural, informational Promoter, informational tutor, interpersonal Promoter and interpersonal tutor justice in the relationship between LMX affective commitment, continuance commitment, normative commitment and turnover intent, all the justice dimensions and LMX were taken as independent variables and regressed on dependant variables of the model individually. As hypothesized and as per the condition of mediation the predictive power of LMX becomes insignificant in all cases when justice dimensions are entered into the equation as another independent variable. The findings fully support hypothesis. Table 6 shows significant reduction in predictive power of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor when distributive justice is entered in to the equation as another variable thus showing full mediation.

Table 7: Regression results for LMX, Affective commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment and turnover when procedural justice acts as mediator variable

	Affective	Continuance	Normative	Turnover		
Constructs	Commitment	Commitment	Commitment	Intent		
	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β	Std. β		
Procedural Justice	0.40	0.58	0.53	-0.86		
LMX Promoter	0.22	0.19	0.28	-0.33		
LMX tutor	0.37	0.21	0.18	0		
Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level						

Table 7 shows significant reduction in predictive power of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor when procedural justice is entered in to the equation as another variable but here the mediation is partial as LMX Promoter and LMX tutor still have small effect on dependant variables of the model. Results support hypothesis H6 and H7 although mediation in this case is partial.

Table 8: Regression results for LMX, Affective commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment and turnover when Interpersonal justice (Promoter) acts as mediator variable

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β	Normative Commitment Std. β	Turnover Intent Std. β
Interpersonal Justice Promoter	0.08	0.01	0.09	-0.11
LMX Promoter	0.44	0.50	0.51	48
LMX tutor	0.54	0.46	0.38	25
Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level				

Table 8 shows significant reduction in predictive power of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor when Interpersonal justice (Promoter) justice is entered in to the equation as another variable but here the mediation is partial again as LMX still has some effect on dependant variables of the model. The beta value here declines from 0.9 to 0.5 on average when LMX is regressed on different dimensions of commitment showing mediation of Interpersonal Justice Promoter. Results support hypothesis H6 and H7 although mediation here is partial again.

Table 9: Regression results for LMX, Affective commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment and turnover when Interpersonal Justice (tutor) acts as mediator variable

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β	Normative Commitment Std. β	Turnover Intent Std. β	
Interpersonal tutor	0.04	0.19	0.12	-0.01	
LMX Promoter	0.43	0.48	0.55	44	
LMX tutor	0.51	0.30	0.32	13	
Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level					

Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level

Table 9 shows significant reduction in predictive power of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor when Interpersonal justice (tutor) is entered in to the equation as another variable but here the mediation is partial as well as LMX still has some effect on dependant variables of the model. Results support hypothesis H6 and H7 although mediation is partial again.

Table 10: Regression results for LMX, Affective commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment and turnover when Informational justice (Promoter) acts as mediator variable

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β	Normative Commitment Std. β	Turnover Intent Std. β		
Informational Promoter	0.22	0.28	0.25	-0.21		
LMX Promoter	0.26	0.29	0.37	-0.33		
LMX tutor	0.5	0.41	0.37	-0.21		
Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level						

Table 10 shows significant reduction in predictive power of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor when Informational justice (Promoter) is entered in to the equation as another variable .Here the mediation is partial as LMX still has some effect on dependant variables of the model.

Table 11: Regression results for LMX, Affective commitment, Continuance Commitment, Normative Commitment and turnover when informational justice (tutor) acts as mediator variable

Constructs	Affective Commitment Std. β	Continuance Commitment Std. β		Turnover Intent Std. β
Informational tutor	0.45	0.58	0.56	-0.09
LMX Promoter	0.32	0.35	0.42	-0.41
LMX tutor	0.22	0.05	0.01	-0.18
Note: The results are significant at 0	.05 % level			

Table 11 shows significant reduction in predictive power of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor when informational justice (tutor) is entered in to the equation as another variable but here the mediation is partial as LMX still has very small impact on dependant variables of the model

Table 12: Regression results for LMX, and different HR practices

Constructs	Task content Std. β	Monetary benefits Std. β	Career & development opportunities Std. β	Working conditions Std. β			
LMX Promoter	0.981	0.973	0.978	0.975			
LMX tutor	0.979	0.979	0.976	0.973			
Note: The results are significant at 0.05 % level							

The above table shows the influence of LMX promoter and LMX tutor on varying HR practices used by the university. These HR practices have been categorized into main sub categories by taking the individual HR practice from distributive justice scale and then making the sub groups of similar practices. For example Task content includes the HR activities related to work characteristics of the PhD candidate ranging from degree of autonomy in his work, challenge in work and variety in work. Results show very high beta coefficient values for all the sub categories against both LMX promoter and LMX tutor showing their high extent of influence.

4 Discussion and conclusions

The results of the regressions analysis carried out strongly supported all the hypothesis of the study and the findings by other researchers. We discuss hereunder the hypothesis of the model one by one:

In order to test the first hypothesis, LMX Promoter and LMX tutor were regressed separately on all dimensions of organizational justice separately and the results were very high and similar beta values appeared for both the sub dimensions of LMX. For LMX Promoter, distributive justice, procedural justice, interpersonal justice (Promoter), interpersonal justice (tutor) informational justice (Promoter) and informational justice (tutor), the values were 0.983, 0.959, 0.977, 0.972, 0.984 and 0.973 respectively. For LMX tutor , distributive justice, procedural justice, interpersonal justice (Promoter), interpersonal justice (tutor) informational justice (Promoter) and informational justice (tutor) to provide the set of th

As explained before, the distinction was made between LMX Promoter and LMX tutor on the premise that since both have different degrees of influence over different HR practices, therefore both may have distinct affects on different dimensions of justice. But not much difference was found in this respect. A reason for this could be the simple fact that not all PhD students have both a Promoter and a tutor. Or maybe respondents did not make meaningful discriminations between the two sub dimensions in their responses. Therefore they just filled the questionnaire similar to both the Promoter and tutor (did not make any distinction). However important to note here is that the results supported our hypothesis that quality of relationship between Promoter/tutor and PhD student effectively influences their justice perceptions regarding HR practices.

The results of the study revealed that leader-member exchange is a positive predictor of procedural, distributive, interpersonal and informational justice, as hypothesized. In other words, if a PhD candidate perceives a higher level of quality in exchange in his relationship with his Promoter/Tutor, the PhD will also perceive a higher level of distributive, procedural, interpersonal and informational justice. The results of this study support previous research on the impact of the quality of the supervisor-subordinate relationship on the fairness perceptions of subordinates (Dansereau, Graen, & Haga, 1975). Thus PhD candidates having quality working relationship with their supervisor would probably receive more justification for procedural justice (i.e., distribution of resources) as well as distributive justice (i.e., larger actual amounts of those resources), due to the relative advantage of higher quality interactions and a closer relationship with the supervisor. They may also receive more opportunities to visit conferences' and attend other seminars and courses adding to their career development. Their perceptions of fairness are enhanced when they feel they are being valued by their supervisor.

Hypothesis 2 and 3 were formed to test the assumption that perceptions of organizational justice by PhD's will positively influence their organizational commitment and negatively influence their intent to turnover. Table 5 shows the results. Although other dimensions of justice also showed strong influence on affective, continuance and normative commitment and intent to turnover, the value of beta coefficient was particularly higher when distributive justice was regressed on dimensions of commitment and turnover. It means that if PhD's perceive fair treatment when it comes to distribution of rewards and fairness in the use of other HR practices measuring distributive justice scale, it affects

their commitment most. The results strongly supported the hypothesis once again. Distributive justice has a direct positive influence on affective, continuance and normative commitment and is negatively related to turnover intentions, as hypothesized. The results of this study support previous research conducted to explain the importance of the allocation phenomenon in organizations (Folger & Konovsky, 1989). For example, people tend to be more satisfied with outcomes they perceive to be fair than with those they perceive to be unfair. In addition, people may compare the adequacy of the rewards they receive to their expectations, or referent standards. Thus, if a PhD candidate feels discontent in what he receives compared to those of a referent other, he is more likely to show lower commitment with his organization.

Table 6 shows that procedural justice has a direct positive influence on commitment and negative influence on intent to quit as hypothesized. It could be concluded that if a PhD candidate perceives fairness in procedures used by his organization, he is likely to exhibit higher levels of commitment and consequently lower intent to quit. Same is supported by theory stating that people are more accepting of decisions that result from fair procedures than with decisions that result from unfair processes.

The table also showed direct positive influence of informational and interpersonal justice perceptions of PhD candidates on their commitment and negative influence of the same on their turnover intent. It means that if a PhD candidate perceives that his promoter/tutor is candid in communications with him and also explains procedures used to arrive at distributive outcomes thoroughly, timely and in detail, it will affect his commitment positively and his intent to turnover negatively. Similarly perceptions of being treated politely and with respect and dignity strongly and positively impact PhD's commitment level and negatively impact his turnover intent. Timely feedback from the supervisor and way of communication of the same is also important part of informational justice. If for example, a candidate is given a negative feedback but in a nice manner, it affects his motivation and commitment level differently than if the same message is conveyed in a harder tone. In other words conveying of same feedback but in harder tone may arouse feelings of informational injustice in the mind of PhD leading to his impaired commitment level and increased intent turnover.

Results also suggests a possibility that quality of relationship with the supervisor can be a very effective mean by which universities can build perceptions or organizational justice regarding use of various HR practices and in turn foster a reciprocal attachment by the PhD's and also sense of obligation will be developed in the mind PhD to remain in the university and to do research for it. He may also realign his goals or directions of his research in accordance with the goals of the university. Similarly PhD's perceptions of justice in presenting him opportunities of training and development and polish his skills, resulting from good relationship with supervisor, may also increase his continuance commitment with the specific university he is in, thus making it difficult for him to leave, for example benefits would be lost and acquired skills might be less useful elsewhere due to change in specific direction of research. So ultimately intent to quit of the PhD will also be low. Important to note here that continuance commitment of the PhD is also expected to be more with the organization because of the costs associated with leaving the organization in terms of time which might be wasted in switching. So LMX has the potential to affect all dimensions of commitment effectively.
It is important to note here that mediation hypotheses did not suggest partial or full mediation of different dimensions of justice. The results showed full mediation of distributive justice concerning HR practices, meaning that perceptions of fairness in outcomes by PhD's reduces the direct impact of LMX on commitment and turnover intent to almost 0. However the impact of LMX on the outcome variables reduces to a great extent but still remains significant when other variables like procedural justice, interpersonal justice and informational justice are introduced in the model. A possible explanation for these results could be that individuals care about different aspects of justice differently. Some dimensions of justice relate more to economic interests, some relate more to interpersonal interests and some influence moral principals more. For some individuals one aspect/dimension of justice could be more important than other. Moreover, it could also be the case that one dimension of justice could be more important to a candidate at one point of time and the other dimension might become more important at another point in time or the same may vary according to different situations.

Hypothesis 4 and 5 were formed to test the influence of LMX Promoter and LMX tutor on different dimensions of commitment and turnover intent individually. Table six again supports the hypothesis fully by suggesting strong positive beta values for LMX Promoter, LMX tutor, affective commitment, continuance commitment, normative commitment and strong negative beta vales for turnover intent. The results support the previous theory also by suggesting that if a PhD candidate has a good working relationship with his promoter or his tutor, its going to positively affect his commitment and negatively affect his turnover intent.

Hypothesis 6 and 7 were formed to test the mediation effects of justice dimensions in the relationship between LMX, commitment and turnover. The results strongly suggested that the affects of the quality of relationship with supervisor and their effect on behaviors of the candidates are mediated through the processes internal to the candidates i.e. through the organizational justice perceptions formed by PhD students. These perceptions appear to strongly intervene between the inputs and outputs of the conceptualized model. Test of this mediation role of justice helps build a mechanism which fully explains how and why LMX affects the organizational commitment level of PhD's and their intents to turnover. Therefore, leader-member exchange affects employees' organizational commitment, and turnover intentions through its effects on organizational justice. Results proved that after controlling for mediation by distributive justice dimension effect of LMX promotor and LMX tutor reduces significantly from beta coefficient of 0.96 to -0.02 only for continuance commitment and same goes for other dimensions of commitment as shown in table. Similarly beta values show that LMX effects much less strongly the turn over intent of PhD when their distributive justice perceptions are controlled. Table 7 gives evidence of full mediation of distributive justice in the case of LMX and work outcome variables. The mediation effects were however partial when other dimensions of justice were controlled and effect of LMX on organizational commitment and turnover intent studied, showing the existence of multiple dimensions of justice, each having its own peculiar mediating effects, thus supporting our model fully. Relatively stronger mediation effects of distributive justice dimension on the predictor and criterion variables of the model seem logical also because the items measuring distributive justice are of greater importance to the PhD candidate. It means that a PhD candidate is more concerned about justice perceptions regarding outcomes of working conditions, degree of autonomy and freedom that he has in conducting his research, facilities available to him crucial for his research, his salary/stipend amount, and career development opportunities given to him and so on. All these HR activities are directly controlled/influenced by the daily tutor and promotor of the candidate.

In order to highlight the importance of LMX and its influence on HR practices carried out by the organization LMX was regressed against the main categories of HR practices. All these categories are of fundamental importance to the PhD candidate. The beta value for task content turned out to be 0.981 for LMX promoter and 0.979 for LMX tutor which shows that the supervisor has great impact on the work characteristics of the PhD. Supervisor is in direct control over the degree of autonomy given to the PhD, he plays pivotal role in deciding the direction for the research area of the PhD, his consent and support is what the student depends on at all levels. The amount and degree of variety in work and challenge in work are other important aspects for which the PhD directly depends on the supervisor. High quality of LMX may also lead for the PhD towards greater autonomy over his work; he may choose area of research more autonomously. He may also get more enriched work opportunities. All these factors also psychologically empower the candidate, he feels secure and supported by his supervisor and theses factors result in higher commitment and satisfaction of the candidate with his work and his organization and much lower his intent to turnover.

Similarly the beta values for other important HR category of career and development opportunities was as high as 0.978 for LMX promoter and 0.976 for LMX tutor showing that both the tutor and supervisor are of fundamental importance in shaping the career and development opportunities of the PhD. A training and supervision plan is supposed to be filled out by the supervisor of the PhD candidate with in first three months from the date of commencement of PhD's tenor as per UT policy. In UT, the several courses available to a PhD candidate include:

- o Course Technical Writing and Editing
- o Presentation Skills
- o Theatre Skills for Powerful Presentations
- o Creative Thinking Techniques and Knowledge Management
- o Systematically Searching for Information
- Tips for AIOs
- Supervising MSc-Projects
- o Orientation on the Dutch Educational System and UT Educational Policy
- Task based learning: an efficient and flexible learning model Course
- o Professional Effectiveness for Doctoral Students
- o Personal Leadership
- Working on a project basis
- o Effective Personal Communication
- o How to present and create a distinct profile of yourself

Role of supervisor again can not be over estimated. He is the person going to nominate the student for the number of courses to be attended each year. Similarly the amount of national and international conferences to be attended by the PhD is also to be decided by the supervisor. Again, the quality of relationship with the supervisor is expected to bring more development opportunities and the analysis supports this conclusion also. The better the career and development opportunities available to the PhD candidate, the better will be his distributive justice perceptions regarding use of HR practices and that will ultimately translate into his high level of motivation, satisfaction and commitment to the organization and will reduce his intent to turnover if any. Therefore evaluations of career development practices were found to be strong predictors of affective, normative and continuance commitment. This is not surprising because this kind of courses give a chance to the candidate to improve the skills crucial for him at different phases of his research. On the basis of these skills he might be able to improve the quality of his work and get them published in journals of international repute.

Daily tutor and final supervisor have high degree of influence over the monetary benefits of the candidate also, for example, salary issues and fringe benefits. The supervisor may not be directly influencing/deciding the amount of salary but definitely he influences the decision indirectly through the performance evaluation of the PhD. And here comes the important activity of performance evaluation. The tutor fills in the performance evaluation form. Good quality LMX gives an opportunity to the PhD to raise his voice during the performance evaluation procedure, which directly affects his satisfaction about the performance evaluation process thus enhancing his justice perceptions that ultimately result in higher commitment and lower turnover intent. This participation in the evaluation process actually makes the candidate feel that he has somehow indirect influence over the whole process.

Good working conditions are other important HR practice important for the PhD. Without conducive environment, he may not be able to perform well and his commitment might be lowered. Results of the research showed high beta value when this sub HR category was regressed against LMX promoter and LMX tutor. By working conditions we broadly mean the work-life balance, availability of own permanent work place, amount of space in office, facilities to perform research well and the amount of noise at work place. High quality of LMX can be translated to better working conditions and perceptions of justice by the PhD leading him to have positive organizational commitment and negative intent to quit. Similarly frequency, duration and quality of supervision are other factors important for the PhD candidate and are decided totally by the supervisor. Higher LMX could also win more support and supervision from the tutor and promoter resulting in positive attitudinal outcomes.

The research showed how relationship with supervisor drives attitudes and behavior. Therefore satisfaction with one's supervisor directly influences one's perceptions of fairness in HR practices used by organization, particularly distributive justice HR practices. Through this mediation, desired levels of organizationally relevant criteria, such an organizational commitment and turnover intentions could be achieved.

4.1 Implications of research

Despite the fact that organizational justice is an important factor as a basic requirement for the effective functioning of organizations (Greengberg, 1990), there have not been prior empirical research of organizational justice in the university setting. As expected, this study revealed the importance and impact of interpersonal working relationships in understanding employees' perceptions of fairness, and enhanced our understanding of the organizational justice factors fundamental to work-related outcomes in the scientific industry. Thus, this study provides a basis for researchers to further test the relationships among these constructs in university setting. The result of the study has some practical implications for the UT management in particular and also could be generalized to the management of other universities. In order to reduce the burgeoning gap between the demand for young researchers and their available supply and also to retain the available talent, its important that highly important role of supervisor be high lightened. The results show that quality of LMX promotes justice perceptions of PhD's and that affects their commitment and turnover intent subsequently. A possibility could be that supervisors be trained in such a way to improve individual working relationships with the PhD's. Here are some of the recommendations that we make on the basis of the research:

4.1.1 Recommendations for the Dutch Government:

- 1. To support research more liberally, give more research funds, more research scholarships, give awards for best papers in each field, reduce paper/administrative work for foreign researchers, facilitate them for their easy adjustment in Dutch society etc. Additional benefits like cheap transportation, cheap meals, cheap residences etc may also be helpful in attracting and retaining foreign talent. This could work by enhancing the distributive justice perceptions of PhD students at the time of recruitment and afterwards leading to higher organizational commitment (particularly continuance commitment) and intention to stay.
- 2. Research income from the public sector be divided according to the share and quality of research by each university.

4.1.2 Recommendations for the University Management:

- 1. Additional attractive benefits should be given to the researchers who come up with best quality research (based on yearly performance). This recommendation is in line with the equity theory of Adams.
- 2. Only active researchers should be allowed to supervise PhD students. This could help enhance quality of LMX between supervisor and the PhD candidate based on important LMX dimensions of *contribution* and *professional respect*, which will in turn lead to desired goals of increasing commitment of the candidates through the mediation of positive justice perceptions.
- 3. Supervisors should be given the freedom to find and admit the research students themselves. This could also help build quality dyadic relationship.
- 4. University paper/administrative/manual work should be minimal thereby giving higher chance of interaction/communication with the candidate. This means that this step could influence interpersonal and informational justice perceptions of PhD candidates. It should also be made sure that the supervisor spends good quality of time in supervising his student(s).
- 5. Regulations governing PhD research should be made sure to be implemented, thus affecting rater procedural justice and system procedural justice perceptions.

4.1.3 Recommendations for supervisors:

1. Supervisors should not force students to work on a particular topic; the topic of research should be of mutual interest. It is important to give students feeling of autonomy and empowerment.

- 2. Sufficient incentive/reward should be provided to supervisors for supervising the PhD's. Supervision should not be assigned as additional or side task. Again, the step could positively influence the LMX and associated outcomes.
- 3. Importance of quality relationship with the PhD and consequences of the same should be made obvious to the supervisor.
- 4. Tangible resources should be divided among the subordinates equitably to get output from students in order to avoid coworker conflict, lack of solidarity and perceptions of injustice.
- 5. There should be a minimum number of publications necessary for a supervisor to achieve for being eligible to supervise; this can attract more PhD students and have important consequences for their quality of work and commitment towards organization.
- 6. Completion rate of PhD's should be included as success criteria for the supervisor and the university.
- 7. There should be a possibility for supervisors to attend special courses to improve cooperation with students.
- 8. Reducing the number of PhD's per supervisor; limit should be placed.
- 9. Supervisors be trained in such a manner that they can take maximum work (and keep the student committed as well) from the candidate without creation of feelings of injustice, if some resources are unavailable.
- 10. Expectations should be made from the PhD candidate according to the facilities provided to him, he should not be unnecessarily burdened.
- 11. Supervisor should be easily accessible and communication with supervisor should not be an issue
- 12. There should be an individualized training and supervision plan for each candidate.

Most of the research on organizational justice has so far focused on pay issues and performance appraisal. This research also included vast range of HR practices such as task content, training and supervision plan, opportunities to visit conferences etc. This research provides management an insight into the justice perceptions of PhD's. The results may also help management make better decisions concerning the important role of supervisor by giving them information about how LMX influences PhD's justice perceptions and work related outcomes.

This study used turnover intentions as an indicator of job withdrawal behavior. Especially, turnover is particularly important in the scientific industry. As explained before that many PhD candidates quit their studies in the middle and brain drain rate is higher for EU universities due to the unhealthy relations with supervisors, lack of training and development opportunities, lack of proper study plan, indefinite tenor of research and so on. In this regard, this study has implications for turnover research in the university setting by providing empirical evidence for relationships between LMX, justice perceptions and turnover intent. Meaning that intent to turnover of PhD candidates could be much reduced if the quality of relationship with the supervisor is improved. As is mentioned before that supervisor plays a key role during the whole employment period of the PhD, so good interpersonal working relationships with him can improve justice perceptions of the PhD which will result in his higher commitment and lower intent to quit.

Another important contribution of the research is that it incorporated the four dimensions of organizational justice presented by Colquitt (2001) and independent, unique effects of all of them were studied separately. All the dimensions were found to work out with distinct processes and affected by quality of LMX uniquely and themselves affected the attitudes and behaviors of PhD's separately. Similarly all the justice dimensions showed separate mediating effects in relationship between LMX, commitment and turnover. The study thereby highlighted the importance of treating the informational and interpersonal justice dimensions as independent rather than one sub dimension.

4.2 Recommendations for future research

Some limiting factors were observed during the research period. Therefore, recommendations for the future work are mentioned in this section accordingly.

The PhD candidates had to be approached through the PhD network in UT. P-Nut did not have complete list of all PhD students so the form could not be sent to all PhD candidates resulting in a relatively low response rate. This is an area which can be easily improved on and this could result in a much better response rate.

Another reason for low response rate could be the fact that the sample was not approached personally. The contact was made only through email and online questionnaire, making it less compelling for the candidates to participate in research. Depending upon the available time, this shortcoming can be overwhelmed in the future work.

Filling up of multiple questionnaires, some of which are monotonous, results in lower response rate. This could be improved by making very interesting questionnaires.

Data was collected only from the PhD candidates of UT and other universities in Netherlands were not involved in this study. The results of the study can be generalized further by replicating a similar kind of research on other universities.

One of the limiting factors hindering the research was the cultural and nationality differences amongst the PhD candidates in the university. Around 44% of the students come from countries other than Netherlands, thus belonging to varying mind sets, cultural and educational backgrounds. This means that owing to these differences one PhD candidate with similar kind of working conditions might perceive organizational justice while the other candidate with similar kind of working conditions might perceive organizational injustice or might have different perceptions of justice. Moreover perceptions of fairness of the candidates may vary over time.

Like most of the social sciences researches, another important limitation of this research was the use of snapshot approach or cross-sectional data collection. This type of paradigm makes the causality ambiguous which is unlikely if longitudinal approach is used. Longitudinal approach is more advantaged because data collection is done from the same sample but on regular intervals leading to more unambiguous and dependable causality. Future research could be directed towards longitudinal analysis to establish this causality or also to establish reverse causality if any. This means that future research could also study if LMX mediates the relationship between these dimensions of organizational justice and attitudinal and behavioral outcomes.

Future research could also study the differences between the LMX and justice perceptions and their behavioral outcomes for foreign and local students. Current study did not make this distinction. This distinction can be very useful and of particular interest for management of universities because local candidates add to the scientific knowledge while foreigners go back to their home countries after completing their projects.

It could also be useful to study if there are any differences in LMX relationships and justice perceptions among candidates having different employment contracts.

Despite its limitations, the research contributed significantly to the literature of organizational justice and LMX by providing important insights to the management of scientific industry. The results showed that while measuring PhD's fairness perceptions concerning HR practices, the source should be kept in mind. The results of the study confirmed the central role played by the supervisor in forming these perceptions and affecting important organizational outcomes through them.

5 References

Adams, J. S. (1965). Inequity in social exchange. Advances in experimental social psychology. 2, 267-299.

Allen, N. J., and Meyer, J. P. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*. 63, 1-18.

Allen, N. J. and Meyer J.P (1996). Affective, Continuance and normative commitment to the organization: An examination of construct validity. *Journal of vocational behavior*. 49, 252-276.

Amrose M. L., Seabright M.A., and Schminke, M. (2002). Sabotage in the workplace: The role of organizational justice. *Organizational behavior and human decision process*. 89, 947-965

Baron, R. M., and D. A. Kenny. "The Mediator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 51, no. 6 (1986): 1173-82.

Becker H.S. (1960). The American Journal of Sociology . 66, 32-40.

Becker, T.E. (1992). Foci and basis of commitment: are the distinctions worth making? *Academy of Management journal*. 35, 232-244.

Becker, T. E., Billings, R. S., Eveleth, D. M., and Gilbert, N. L. (1996). Foci and bases of employee commitment: implications for job performance. *Academy of Management Journal*. 39, 464–482.

Bies, R. J., and Moag, J. F. (1986). Interactional justice: Communication criteria of fairness. In R. J. Lewicki, B. H. Sheppard, & M. H. Bazerman (Eds.). *Research on negotiations in organizations*. 1, 43-55.

Bies, R. J. and Shapiro, D. L. (1988). Voice and Justification: Their Influence on Procedural Fairness Judgments. *The Academy of Management Journal*. 31, 676-685.

Bloisi W., Cook, C.W. and Hunsaker P.L. (2003). Management and organizational behavior P: 565.

Brickman, P. (1987). Commitment, In: B.Wortman, & R.Sorrentino (Eds.), Commitment, comflict and caring. *Englewood cliffs, NJ Prentice Hall*. 1-18.

Cammann, C., Fichman, M., Jenkins, D., & Klesh, J. (1979). The Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire. Unpublished Manuscript, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan.

Colquitt, J. A. (2001). On the dimensionality of organizational justice: A construct validation of a measure. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 86, 386-400.

Colquitt J.A., Conlon D.E., Wesson J.M., Porter C.O.L.H., and Ng K.Y. (2001). Justice at the millennium: A Meta-Analytic review of 25 years of organizational justice research. *Journal of applied psychology*. 86, 425-445.

Conlon, D. E. (1993). Some tests of the self-interest and group value models of procedural justice: Evidence from an organizational appeal procedure. *Academy of Management Journal*. 36, 1109-1124.

Cropanzano, R., Byrne Z.S., Bobocel D.R. and Rupp D.E. (2001). Moral Virtues, Fairness Heuristics, Social Entities, and Other Denizens of Organizational Justice. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*. 58, 164–209.

Cropanzano, R., and Folger, R. (1989). Referent cognitions and task decision autonomy: Beyond equity theory. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 74: 293-299.

Dansereau, F., G. Graen, and W. J. Haga. (1975). A Vertical Dyad Linkage Approach to Leadership within Formal Organizations: A Longitudinal Investigation of the Role Making Process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*. 13, 46-78.

Dansereau, F., Yammarino, F. J., Markham, S. E., Alutto, J. A., Newman, J., Dumas, M., (1995). Individualized leadership: A new multiple-level approach. *Leadership Quarterly*. 6, 413–450.

Dienesch. R. M. and Liden. R. C. (1986). Leader-member exchange model of leadership: A critique and further d e v e l o p m e n t . *Academy of Management Review*. 2, 618 - 634

Duchon. D,. Green. S, G. and Taber. T. D. (I986). Vertical dyad linkage: A longitudinal assessment of antecedents, measures, and consequences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 71, 56-60.

Dunham, R. B., Grube, J. A., and Castaneda, M. B. (1994). Organizational commitment: The utility of an integrative definition. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 79, 370–380.

Enserink M. (2000). On a slippery slope to mediocrity. <u>www.sciencemag.org</u> (last visited on 02.04.08)

Erdogan, B. (2002). Antecedents and consequences of justice perceptions in performance appraisals. *Human resource management review*. 12, 555-578.

Feldman and Leana (1986). A note on statistical correction of halo error. Journal of applied psychology. 71, 173-176.

Ferris, K. R. and Aranya, N. (1983). A comparison of two organizational commitment scales. *Personal Psychology* 36, 87–101.

Fischer, A. and Lohner, S. <u>www.minocw.nl/documenten/en_2006_2007.pdf</u> (last visited on 02.04.08)

Folger, R. (1986a). Rethinking equity theory: A referent cognitions model. In H. W. Beirhoff, R. L. Cohen, & J. Greenberg (Eds.). *Justice in social relations*. New York: Plenum Press.145–162.

Folger, R. (1994). Workplace justice and employee worth. *Social justice Research* 7, 225-241.

Folger, R., and Cropanzano, R. (2001). Fairness theory: Justice as accountability. In J. Greenberg & R. Cropanzano (Eds.). *Advances in organizational justice*. Stanford, CA: Stanford Univ. Press.1–55.

Folger, R. and Konovsky, M. A. (1989). Effects of procedural and distributive justice on reactions to pay raise decisions. *Academy of Management Journal*. 32, 115–130.

Forret, M. L., and D. Turban (1994). The Leader-Member Exchange Model: A Review and Directions for Future Research. Paper presented at *The Annual Academy of Management Meeting*, Dallas, TX.

Gilliland S.W. and Hale. J.M.S (1996). Handbook of Organizational Justice By Jerald Greenberg, Jason Colquitt *Becker, T. E. and Billings, R. S.* Profiles of Commitment: An Empirical Test. *Journal of Organizational Behavior.* 14, 77-190.

Gilliland, S. W. and Schepers, D. H. (2003). Why we do the things we do: a discussion and analysis of determinants of just treatment in layoff implementation decisions. *Human Resource Management Review*. 13, 59–83.

Graen, G., (1976).Role-making processes within complex organizations. In M.D, Dunnette (Ed.). Handbook of industrial land organizational psychology, (pp, 1201 — 124.5), Chicago: Rand McNally

Graen G. B., and Scandura. T. A, (1987). Toward a psychology of dyadic organizing. *Research in Organizational Behavior*. 9, 175-208.

Graen, G.B., & Uhl-Bien, M.(1995). Relationship-based approach to leadership: Development of leader-member exchange (LMX) theory of leadership over 25 years: Applying a multi-level multi-domain perspective. *Leadership Quarterly*. *6*, 219–247.

Greenberg, J. (1990). Organizational justice: Yesterday, Today and tomorrow. *Journal of Management* 16,399-432.

Heneman, Greenberger and Anonyuo (1989). Attributions and exchanges: The effects of interpersonal factors on the diagnosis of employee performance. *Academy of Management Journal*. 32, 466-476.

Hooper D.T. and Martin R., (2008). Beyond personal leader member exchange (LMX) quality: The effects of perceived LMX variability on employee reactions. *The leadership quarterly*. 19, 20-30.

Hopkins, K.M. (1997). Supervisor intervention with troubled workers: Social identity perspective. *Human Relations*. 50, 1215–1238.

Igbara, M. and Guimaraes T. (1999). Exploring Differences in Employee Turnover Intentions and Its Determinants Among Telecommuters and Non-Telecommuters. *Journal of management information systems*. 16, 147-164.

Kacmar K.M., Carlson D.S. and Bryner R.A. (1999). Antecedents and Consequences of Organizational Commitment: A Comparison of Two Scales. *Educational and psychological measurement.* 59, 976-994

Kidd, J.M. and Smewing C. (2001). The role of the supervisor in career and organizational commitment. *European journal of work and organizational psychology*. 10, 25-40.

Kingstrom P.O. and Mainstone L.E. (1985). An investigation of rater rate acquaintance and rater bias 28. *Accademy of management journal*. 28, 641-653.

Korsgaard, M. A.and Roberson, L.(1995). Procedural justice in performance evaluation: the role of instrumental and non-Instrumental voice in performance appraisal discussions. *Journal of management.* 21, 657-669.

Laschinger, Heather K. Spence, R. N, Purdy, Nancy, R. N, and Joan, R.N. (2007). The Impact of Leader-Member Exchange Quality, Empowerment, and Core Self-evaluation on Nurse Manager's Job Satisfaction . *Journal of Nursing Administration*. 37, 221-229

Latham, G.P., (1988). Human resource training and development. *Annual review of psychology*. 39, 545-582.

Laurent, M. Lapierre, Rick, D. H. and Taggar, S. (2006). A Test of the Links between Family Interference with Work, Job Enrichment and Leader–Member Exchange. *Applied Psychology: An International Revie.* 55, 489–511.

Leventhal, G. S., Karuza, J., & Fry, W. R. (1980). Beyond fairness: A theory of allocation preferences. In G. Mikula (Ed.). *Justice and social interaction*. New York: Springer-Verlag 167-218.

Liden, R.C. and Maslyn, J.M. (1998). Multidimensionality of leader member exchange: An empirical investigation through scale development. *Journal of Management*, 24, 43-72.

Lind, E. A. (1995a). Justice and authority in organizations. In R. Cropanzano & K. M. Kacmar

(Eds.), *Politics, justice, and support: Managing the social climate of work organizations.*83–96. Westport, CT: Quorum.

Lind, E. A., and Tyler, T. R. (1988). The social psychology of procedural justice. *New York: Plenum.*

Lowe R.H., Vodanovich S.J. (1995). A field study of distributive and procedural justice as predictors of satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Journal of business and psychology*. 10, 99-114.

Maertz C.P., Griffeth R.W., Campbell N.S. and Allen D.G. (2007). The effects of perceived organizational support and perceived supervisor support on employee turnover. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour.* 28, 1059–1075.

Malatesta, R. M., and Byrne, Z. S. (1997). The impact of formal and interactional procedures on organizational outcomes. Paper presented at the 12th annual conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, St. Louis, MO.

Masterson, S.S. Lewis, K., Goldman, B.M., & Taylor M.S.(2000). Integrating justice and social exchange: The differing effects of fair procedures and treatment on work relationships. *Academy of Management Journal*. 43, 738-748.

McFarIin, D. B., and Sweeney, P. D. (1992). Distributive and procedural justice as predictors of satisfaction with personal and organizational outcomes. *Academy of Management Journal*. 35, 626-637.

McGee G. W. and Ford, R. C. (1987). Two (or more?) Dimensions of organizational commitment: reexamination of the affective and continuance commitment scales. *Journal of applied psychology*. 72, 638-641.

McKinnon, D. P., G. Warsi, and J. H. Dwyer. "A Simulation Study of Mediated Effect Measures." *Multivariate Behavioral Research* 30, no.1 (1995): 41-62.

Meyer, J. P., and Allen, N. J. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. *Human Resource Management Review*. **1**, 61–89.

Meyer J. P. and Allen N. J. (1984). Testing the side-bet theory of organizational commitment: some methodological considerations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 69, 372-378

Meyer, J. M., and Allen, N. J. (1997). Commitment in the workplace: Theory, research, and application. *Advanced topics in organizational behavior*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Meyer, J.P. and Herscovitch, L. (2001). Commitment in the workplace: Toward a general model. *Human resource management review*. 11, 299-326.

Meyer, J. P., Paunonen, S. V., Gellatly, I. H., Goffin, R. D., & Jackson, D. N. (1989). Organizational commitment and job performance: It's the nature of the commitment that counts. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 74, 152–156.

Mikula, G., Petrik, B. & Tanzer, N. (1990). What people regard as unjust: Types and structures of everyday experiences of injustice. *European Journal of Social Psychology*. *20*, 133-149.

Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C. and Lee, T. W. (2001). How to keep your best employees: developing an effective retention policy. *The Academy of Management Executive*. 15, 96–108.

Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology, 62, 237-240.

Moore, B. (1978). Injustice. The social basis of obedience and revolt. White plains, NY.

Mowday, R., Porter, L., and Steers, R. (1982). Organizational linkages: The psychology of commitment, absenteeism, and turnover. *New York: Academic Press*.

Mowday, R., Steers, R., and Porter, L. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*. 14, 224-247.

Mowday, Richard T., Lyman W.Porter, Dubin R. (1974). Unit performance, situational factors and employee attitudes in spatially separated work units. *Organizational behavior and human performance*. 12, 231-248.

Muijrers, J. (2000) patchwork of differing PhD requirements throughout Europe disadvantages graduate students and compromises the quality of science. European Molecular Biology Organization

O'Reilly, C. A., and Chatman, J. (1986). Organizational commitment and psychological attachment: The effects of compliance, identification, and internalization on prosocial behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 71, 492–499.

Reichers, A.E.(1985). A review and reconceptualization of organizational commitment. *Academy of management review*. 10, 465-476. Renwick D. and MacNeil C.M. (2002). Line Manager involvement in career. *Career Development International*. 7, 407-414.

Rupp, D.E. and Cropanzano, R. (2002). The mediating effects of social exchange relationships in predicting work place outcomes from multifoci organizational justice. *Organizational behavior and human decision process.* 89, 925-946.

Scandura , Terri A. (1999). Rethinking Leader member exchange: An organizational justice perceptive. *Leadership Quarterly*. 10,1-11

Scandura, T, A, Graen. G, B. & Novak, M.A. (1986). When managers decide not to decide autocratically: An investigation of leader-member exchange and decision influence. *Journal of Applied psychology*. 71, 579-584.

Shapiro, D. L., Buttner, E. H., and Barry, B. (1994). Explanations: What factors enhance their perceived adequacy? Organizational behavior and human decision processes. 58, 346-368.

Sharif, M. A., Al-Emadi and Marquardt, M. J. (2007). Relationship between employees' beliefs regarding training benefits and employees' organizational commitment in a petroleum company in the State of Qatar. *International Journal of Training and Development*. 11, 49-70.

Sherony K.M and Green S.G., (2002). Coworker Exchange: Relationships between coworkers, Leader-Member Exchange and work attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 87, 542-548.

Skarlicki D.P. and Folger R. (1997). Retaliation in the work place: The roles of distributive, procedural and Interactional justice. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. 82, 434-443.

Steers, R. M. (1975), 'Problems in the measurement of organizational effectiveness', *Administrative Science Quarterly.* 20, 546–58.

Steers, R. M. (1977). Organizational effectiveness: A behavioral view. Santa Monica, Ca. Good year publishing company.

Stinglhamber F., Vandenberghe C. (2003). Organizations and supervisors as sources of support and targets of commitment: a longitudinal study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. 24, 251–270.

Tan, R and Meijer, M. (2001). From Dutch Pyramid in to Babel's Tower? <u>www.eurodoc.net</u> (last visited : 02.04.08)

Thibaut, J., and Walker, L. (1975). Procedural justice: A Psychological analysis. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.

Uhl-Bien, M., Graen.G.B. and Scandura. T.A. (2000) 'Implications of Leader-Member Exchange (LMX) for Strategic Human Resource Management Systems: Relationships as Social Capital For Competitive Advantage". *Research in Personnel and Human Resource Management.* 18, 137-185.

Vecchio, R. P. and Gobdel. B. C. (1984). The vertical dyad linkage model of leadership: Problem and prospects. *Organizational Behavior and Human performance*. 34, 5-20.

Wayne S.J., Shore L.M. and Lieden R.C (1997). Perceived organizational support and leader member exchange: A social exchange perspective. *Academy of Management journal*. 40, 82-111.

Whitener E.M., (1997). The impact of human resource activities on employee trust. *Human resource management review*. 7, 389-404.

Other sources

www.vsnu.nl

www.eurodoc.net

www.sciencemag.org

www.minocw.nl/documenten/en_2006_2007.pdf

U.Twente

Appendix 1

Scales

The variables are measured as follows:

Distributive justice concerning HRM (Colquitt, J.A., 2001)

- 1. The amount of autonomy and freedom in my work
- 2. The amount of variety in my work
- 3. Challenge in my work
- 4. Salary
- 5. Fringe-benefits (e.g., retirement pay, reimbursement of travelling costs)
- 6. Job security
- 7. Career opportunities
- 8. Opportunities for development
- 9. Opportunities for additional education and training
- 10. Opportunities to visit conferences
- 11. The social climate in my department
- 12. Work pressure
- 13. Stress
- 14. Work-life balance
- 15. Information on rewards and fringe-benefits
- 16. Information on education and courses
- 17. Influencing (co-deciding) on the content of my PhD
- 18. Influencing department decisions
- 19. Availability of own PC at the work place
- 20. Own permanent work place
- 21. Space in my office
- 22. Facilities to perform my research well
- 23. Noise at the work place
- 24. The amount of appreciation
- 25. The quality of appreciation
- 26. The amount of supervision
- 27. The quality of supervision
- 28. The amount of support

U.Twente

- 29. The quality of support
- 30. The opportunity to work together with colleagues
- 31. The adequacy of the professional competence of my promoter.
- 32. The supervision and training plan

Procedural justice perceptions (Colquitt, J.A., 2001)

- 1. The appraisal procedure (judgement on your progression or performance)
- 2. The procedure concerning the employment status (decision-making on AIO, OIO or different contract)
- 3. The procedure concerning labour contract extension
- 4. The procedure concerning an appointment at the UT after finishing the PhD

Interpersonal justice Promoter (Colquitt, J.A., 2001)

The following items refer to your promoter. To what extent:

- 1. Has he/she treated you in a polite manner?
- 2. Has he/she treated you with dignity?
- 3. Has he/she treated you with respect?
- 4. Shows he/she really concern for me?

Interpersonal justice tutor (Colquitt, J.A., 2001)

The following items refer to your tutor. To what extent:

- 1 Has he/she treated you in a polite manner?
- 2 Has he/she treated you with dignity?
- 3 Has he/she treated you with respect?
- 4 Shows he/she really concern for me?

Informational justice Promoter (Item 1 and 2 Bies and Moag, 1986, Item 3-5 Shapiro et al., 1994)

The following items refer to your Promoter. To what extent:

- 1. Has he/she been candid in communications with you?
- 2. Has he/she explained procedures (e.g. concerning salary, promotion) thoroughly?
- 3. Were his/her explanations regarding the procedures reasonable?
- 4. Has he/she communicated details on time?

5. Has he/she seemed to tailor his/her communications to your specific needs

Informational justice tutor (Item 1 and 2 Bies and Moag, 1986, Item 3-5 Shapiro et al., 1994)

The following items refer to your tutor. To what extent:

- 1 Has he/she been candid in communications with you?
- 2 Has he/she explained procedures (e.g. concerning salary, promotion) thoroughly?
- 3 Were his/her explanations regarding the procedures reasonable?
- 4 Has he/she communicated details on time?
- 5 Has he/she seemed to tailor his/her communications to your specific needs

LMX Promoter (Liden, R. C. & Maslyn, J. M., 1998)

- 1. I like my promoter very much as a person
- 2. My promoter is the kind of person one would like to have as a friend
- 3. My promoter is a lot of fun to work with
- 4. My promoter defends my work actions to a superior, even without complete knowledge of the issue in question
- 5. My promoter would come to my defence if I were 'attacked' by others
- My promoter would defend me to others in the organization if I made an honest mistake
- 7. I do work for my promoter that goes beyond what is specified in my job description
- 8. I am willing to apply extra efforts on behalf of my promoter
- 9. I don't mind working as hard as possible on behalf of my promoter
- 10. I am impressed with my promoter's knowledge on his/her job
- 11. I respect my promoter's knowledge of and competence on the job
- 12. I admire my promoter's professional skills
- 13. Working with my promoter is very stimulating

- 14. My promoter believes in my capabilities
- 15. I always get positive feedback from my promoter when I achieve a certain goal

LMX Tutor (Liden, R. C. & Maslyn, J. M., 1998)

1 I like my tutor very much as a person

2 My tutor is the kind of person one would like to have as a friend

3 My tutor is a lot of fun to work with

4 My tutor defends my work actions to a superior, even without complete knowledge

of the issue in question

- 5 My tutor would come to my defence if I were 'attacked' by others
- 6 My tutor would defend me to others in the organization if I made an honest mistake
- 7 I do work for my tutor that goes beyond what is specified in my job description
- 8 I am willing to apply extra efforts on behalf of my tutor
- 9 I don't mind working as hard as possible on behalf of my tutor
- 10 I am impressed with my tutor's knowledge on his/her job
- 11 I respect my tutor's knowledge of and competence on the job
- 12 I admire my tutor's professional skills
- 13 Working with my tutor is very stimulating
- 14 My tutor believes in my capabilities
- 15 I always get positive feedback from my tutor when I achieve a certain goal

Organizational Commitment Scale (Allen, N. J. and Meyer, J. P., 1990).

Affective Commitment Scale items

1. I would be very happy to spend the rest of my career within the University of Twente (UT)

2. I enjoy discussing the UT with people outside it

3. I really feel as the UT's problems are my own

4. I think that I could easily become as attached to another organization as I am to the UT

5. I do not feel like 'part of the family' at the UT

6. I do not feel 'emotionally attached' to the UT

7. The UT has a great deal of personal meaning for me

8. I do not feel a strong sense of belonging to the UT

Continuance Commitment Scale items

1. I am not afraid of what might happen if I quit my job without having another one lined up

2. It would be very hard for me to leave the UT right now, even if I wanted to

3. Too much in my life would be disrupted if I decided I wanted to leave the UT now

4. It wouldn't be too costly for me to leave the UT now

5. Right now, staying with the UT is a matter of necessity as much as desire

6. I feel that I have too few options to consider leaving the UT

7. One of the few serious consequences of leaving the UT would be the scarcity of available alternatives

8. One of the major reasons I continue to work for the UT is that leaving would require considerable personal sacrifice — another organization may not match the overall benefits I have here

Normative Commitment Scale items

1. I think that people these days move from company to company too often.

2. I do not believe that a person must always be loyal to his or her organization

3. Jumping from organization to organization does not seem at all unethical to me

4. One of the major reasons I continue to work for the UT is that I believe that loyalty is important and therefore feel a sense of moral obligation to remain

U.Twente

5. If l got another offer for a better job elsewhere I would not feel it was right to leave the UT

6. I was taught to believe in the value of remaining loyal to one employer

7. Things were better in the days when people stayed with one organization for most of their careers

Intention to leave Scale (Cammann, Fichman, Jenkins, and Klesh, 1979)

1. I often think about leaving the UT after receiving my PhD

2. It is very likely that I will actively look for a job outside the UT after receiving my PhD

3. I will leave the UT as soon as I got my PhD

4. Even if the UT would offer me a job after receiving my PhD, I will leave

All instruments in this study provide information/responses on 5 point scale (1 = strongly disagree; 5 = strongly agree).